

From the Ground Up

Community Centered Policies to Scale Equitable Development



Contents

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

3 INTRODUCTION

Political Alignment Around Rising Property Values.										.4
Speculative Capital								••••		5
Racialized Lending								••••		5
Solutions								• • • •		6

7 ON-THE-GROUND EXPERIENCE

9 ROUNDTABLE PRINCIPLES

10 TAKING ON THE STRUCTURAL FORCES OF INEQUITABLE DEVELOPMENT

Weakening & Breaking the Political Alignments

Around Higher Property Values	10		
Community Land Ownership			
Getting Community Land Ownership to Scale			
Using City Bonds to Scale Up, Meet Need, and Deliver Equity	12		
Getting to Deeply Affordable Housing	13		
Decreased Reliance on Property Taxes	15		
Public Financing of Campaigns	18		
Curbing Speculative Capital's Impact on Real Estate	19		
Regulating Speculators via Transparency	20		
Divesting Public Pension Funds from Speculative Capital	20		
Limiting Private Pension Investments in Speculative Capital	21		
Using Property Transfer and Other Taxes to Redirect Capital			
to Local Trust Funds	22		
Ending Racialized Lending	24		
Profits, Race & Risk	25		
The Community Reinvestment Act	26		
A Racialized Foreclosure Crisis & Remedy	26		
Place as Race	28		
Other Sources of Lending: Community Development			
Finance Institutions (CDFI), Credit Unions, and Community Banks	29		
Solution: Public Banking	30		

32 CONCLUSION

Executive Summary

uman rights-based development requires that we own, develop, and use land in such a way that it protects our fundamental human rights, including rights to housing, work with dignity, education, health, food, and environmental security. Yet in urban and metropolitan development in the U.S. today, fetishism of higher land values has taken precedence over development for human wellbeing, locking out renters and people with lower incomes and no access to inherited wealth. This is especially true in Black and Latinx communities.

This speculative, exclusionary development regime is held up by the convergence of the political, economic, and social interests of real estate developers, financiers, landlords, local politicians, and homeowners.¹ Together, they back policies and create economies that produce scarcities of affordable housing and community land, bend public finance to serve private rather than public interests, and privilege the financial interests of speculators over the rights of low-income residents. But if we are willing to take on the powers and structures driving speculative and exclusionary development, we can begin to usher in a new, just development regime.

This report shares the lessons learned from almost a decade of on-the-ground work in Baltimore. There, we fought a separate and unequal trickle-down local development policy that promised jobs, commerce, and a lifting of all boats. These policies were destined to fail because they were centered on increasing land values, not meeting human need. Local organizations and activists were able to identify the power dynamics and structural forces that perpetuated this failed development. We then created an alternative vision for urban development that directs land and development policy toward

This report shares the lessons learned from almost a decade of on-the-ground work in Baltimore. There, we fought a separate and unequal trickle-down local development policy that promised jobs, commerce, and a lifting of all boats.

building a local economy that would increase employment, wealth, and security for all. The foundations of this "Fair Development" model envision using public policy and private action to transform who owns and controls land, how we harness profit-driven speculation, and how we invest in our neighborhoods. They also involve the creation of new institutions which, if democratic and accountable, can form the building blocks of a new development paradigm. Specifically,

 Community land ownership, particularly in the form of Community Land Trusts (CLTs),

¹ Research indicates that homeowners are more likely to vote than renters and homeless people and that their interests often shape local and state policy towards driving up property values. However, we recognize that across the wide spectrum of homeowners, low-income owners in communities of color do not hold the same social capital and political influence as wealthier homeowners congregated in wealthier segregated communities.

can pierce existing political alignments around land value fetishism by adding a new institutional player, if a certain scale is achieved;

- Non-lapsing, community controlled Affordable Housing or Equitable Development "trust" funds can be funded by taxing speculative capital through the use of local property transfer and other assessments; and
- A state or local Public Bank can shift current lending dynamics, increasing the amount of capital available and lowering its cost for communities of color, both for residential and commercial development.

Other practices that might help include public campaign finance systems that reduce developer and real estate finance influence over politicians; divestment of public (and private) pension funds from speculative real estate; and increased regulation and transparency of Limited Liability Companies (LLC) and other corporate entities engaged in speculation.

There are other measures beyond the scope of this report: major investment in public and social housing, rezoning to enable more affordable and diversified housing construction, reparations for Black communities locked out of homeownership, and an array of tenant protections. All can provide a combination of policy and structural interventions that could transform the politics of development.

Given the political forces at work, none of this is low-hanging fruit. While the advent of city and state "equity" initiatives is a welcome first step, the politics involved requires effective community organizing and coalescing that will build the power to take on vested interests and reshape development around fundamental human needs, not real estate.



Introduction

Luccessful economic and community development meets our fundamental human rights to housing, work with dignity, education, health, food, and environmental security. But it's more. Human rights-based development means not only that we are the central subject of development, but that we are also its active participants and beneficiaries.¹

But the central focus of development in most of our cities is not people but property specifically the value of property. In economic terms this means dollars. The value of property affects so much more than the price of the housing that it sits on: it affects the quality of education in the community; the level of employment; the presence of environmental hazards; and the availability of healthy food. Inequitable development is guaranteed if we assume that higher property values will by themselves work to meet fundamental human needs.

Unfortunately, the thirst for higher property values appears to be the foundation of most state and local development policies and of many that engage in community development. This emphasis has produced policies that produce scarcities of affordable housing and land, a perpetual hunt for profit, and development that is exclusionary in its public participation, leaving us far short of what we truly need. Certainly, organized opposition to development projects has produced community agreements that have advanced affordable housing, work with dignity, education, and other human needs. And indeed, the ever-growing equity-based development frameworks recently adopted by cities are long overdue.² But until we directly confront the issue of land, its value, its use, and its control, we avoid a keystone of inequity, and we risk incrementalism in our attempts to bring human rights to development.

This report discusses three critical areas in development that must be addressed if we are ever to achieve real justice:

- The political alignment among local politicians, real estate developers and homeownersⁱⁱ (and landlords);
- 2. The rise of speculative capital; and
- 3. The continuation of racialized lending practices.

These three forces have led to an increase in evictions, homelessness and displacement disproportionately affecting Black and Latinx residents and other low-income communities of color—while enriching mostly White real estate developers, hedge fund investors, and landowners.

ⁱⁱ Research indicates that homeowners are more likely to vote than renters and homeless people and that their interests often shape local and state policy towards driving up property values. However, we recognize that across the wide spectrum of homeowners, low-income owners in communities of color do not hold the same social capital and political influence as wealthier homeowners congregated in wealthier segregated communities.

POLITICAL ALIGNMENT AROUND RISING PROPERTY VALUES

The lust for higher property values produces powerful and incestuous bedfellows.

Land is a limited commodity and municipal governments generally rely upon revenue from property taxes. As land values increase, cities reap more tax revenue. Theoretically, this means more government capacity to educate, heal, and house, but the politics and alignments formed by land value fetishism often interfere.

The results of ever-increasing land values are multiple and often destructive: higher land values increase profits for real estate developers, who then provide campaign financing for local politicians, ensuring their interests (more profits) are prioritized in city hall; they attract investors via hedge, equity, and various pooled funds; increase bank profits; and, finally, higher land values increase homeowners' (and landlords') real estate equity, making refinancing, remodeling, or sale more attractive. This homeowner interest is understandable, given the paucity of publicly funded safety nets and social insurance systems in the U.S.

Higher land values bring together homeowners (and landlords), who are more likely to vote than others, with local politicians who seek those votes, and with developers who underwrite politicians' campaigns. Banks and investment capital join this alignment. This is an equation for exclusion and displacement for renters, persons who are homeless, and homeowners on fixed incomes. As these groups are, for the most part, disproportionately Black people and other people of color, the road to equity in development begins with understanding and addressing land value politics. It also involves understanding the dynamics that land values play in these sectors.



SPECULATIVE CAPITAL

In May 2008, during the mortgage foreclosure crisis, This American Life joined with National Public Radio (NPR) to produce a program explaining the crisis, called "The Giant Pool of Money."³ This pool, roughly \$70 trillion globally at the time, was identified as "savings" by the very rich that needed profitable investment return. With low interest rates and returns on traditional investments, real estate became an attractive target. Creative and questionable financial practices followed, as did predatory lending.

The pool identified by NPR is called the fixed income security market—financial instruments that promise some sort of regular return on investment. They noted that it had taken one hundred years of capitalism for it to reach \$36 trillion in 2000. Within six years, it had practically doubled to \$70 trillion. Today, it stands at \$123 trillion, roughly 33% higher in value than what the world's economy produces.⁴ And it just keeps getting bigger.

The results have been disastrous. The foreclosure crisis and resulting Great Recession were the product of this financialization in housing.⁵ While the explosion of the housing bubble led to some policy changes, financialization remains intact. As all this money in the form of financial entities such as Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs),⁶ Statutory Trusts,⁷ and Private Equity Real Estate⁸ gets injected in the local housing market, it is joined by local flippers, real estate developers, and other speculators in driving housing prices ever higher.

RACIALIZED LENDING

Like bacteria battling antibiotics, for-profit lending has mutated and continues to find different ways to perpetuate racism.

The gap between Black and White homeownership is now larger than it was when the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) was created in 1934.⁹ At that point, racial zoning may have been outlawed, but the United States was about to enter into four decades marked by "redlining," blockbusting, racial covenants, and FHA mortgage insurance for covenant communities, all of which kept Black households from becoming part of a post-World War II "middle class," with its attendant wealth, education, and political power. This is well documented in Richard Rothstein's book, *The Color of Law.*¹⁰

Not surprisingly, private, for-profit lenders (with public policy assistance) played a key role in the racial and class disparities that we see in development today. Because property operates as loan collateral, its value will determine loan risk and potential profits for lenders. But property values have been artificially deflated in Black communities through years of racist policies and practices.

This disparity has created undue hardship for individual Black people and other people of color as they negotiate with banks and other private lenders over bank accounts, insurance, and mortgages. However, it creates an even greater problem community-wide, given that development rarely happens without loaned money. Struggling communities cannot develop and grow, whether it be with a small business loan or to develop Community Land Trusts (CLTs), without access to investment money.

SOLUTIONS

Policy makers, planners, advocates, and activists must deal with the political alignments of land value fetishism and its dynamics to bring structural change to the landscape of development.

In this report, we offer a three-pronged approach.

- Community land ownership is the means to pierce the political paradigm that keeps politicians solely focused on raising property values. Decreased reliance on property taxes by localities and campaign finance reform can also modify the paradigm.
- Speculative capital must be taxed to capture the profits extracted from

communities and returned to them for community-led investment and ownership. Cities also must divest from speculative capital funds and leverage their anchor institutions to do the same.

• *Public banking* is a means to change the current dynamics of for-profit lending, enabling Black people and other people of color *and their communities* to overcome the colorization of risk.

This approach is grounded in community experience and on-the-ground innovation, emerging from our work in Baltimore over almost a decade, as well as consultation with equitable development activists in similar cities.



On-the-Ground Experience

n 2013, a collection of Baltimore renters, homeowners, persons without housing, nonprofit developers, community associations, religious institutions, policy advocates, lawyers, and academics formed a coalition anchored by the United Workers (UW), an economic rights group that organizes low-income communities to end poverty. This "Baltimore Housing Roundtable" quickly formulated their own principles of equitable development and in January 2016 released *Community + Land + Trust: Policy Tools for Development Without Displacement.*¹¹

Baltimore shared challenges similar to that of other cities. Like Philadelphia and Pittsburgh, it had a mixture of gentrification and continued disinvestment, depending on the neighborhood.¹² Like Detroit and Philadelphia, it had significant swaths of vacant property.¹³ Like Oakland, it was seeing an influx of investor capital, eager to turn distressed mortgage property into new profitmaking opportunities.¹⁴ And like all these cities, it was dealing with private lenders who continued the practice begun with redlining of determining which neighborhoods deserved investment or neglect, with all its attendant racial ramifications.¹⁵

The Baltimore CLT report laid out a 20/20 vision for community-driven development.¹⁶ It called for \$20 million annually in municipal bonds to advance vacant house deconstruction, community greening, and urban agriculture, through the employment of people who were formerly incarcerated, and another \$20 million annually in bonds to rehab vacant properties into communityowned, shared-equity housing through CLTs. The road map also included the creation of a Housing Trust Fund (similar to those in Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, and Oakland). It also called for a city Land Bank (as in Philadelphia) and operating funds to support community ownership.

For the most part, Baltimore political leaders were unmoved. Sidestepping them, the Roundtable and housing allies advanced a citizen ballot charter petition to establish the Housing Trust Fund, and political candidates were pressured to support 20/20. In November 2016, voters established the Trust Fund, and a mayoral candidate who had endorsed 20/20 was elected. Within two years, however, the new mayor had walked back her support, and legislation to put money into the Trust Fund stalled because of developer opposition.

Developers in Philadelphia also had upended an effort to create a new construction tax for its Housing Trust Fund.¹⁷ While an eventual compromise netted increased fund revenue, it required creating a sub-fund catering to forprofit developers and targeted middle-income, not low-income, households.¹⁸

But concerted organizing can sometimes triumph. Pittsburgh took on developer lobbying power with a citizen ballot petition, which pushed the City Council to embrace a tax for its Housing Trust Fund.¹⁹ Following suit, the Baltimore Roundtable began another ballot petition—this one requiring a \$20 million annual funding of the Trust, regardless of the means.²⁰ As with Pittsburgh, the mayor and City Council relented to citizen ballot pressure and a transfer tax and recordation tax surcharge was passed to head off the ballot petition. These taxes were expected to net \$13 million annually.²¹ The mayor agreed to progressively increase bond budget allocations to bring the amount to \$20 million annually.²²

Baltimore is not alone in its attempts to grapple with a rising tide of gentrification. Public funds notwithstanding, a report released in 2019 showed that Baltimore had moved to sixth among U.S. cities gentrifying between 2000 and 2013.²³ Pittsburgh was ranked eighth, Philadelphia tenth.²⁴ Oakland was called "ground zero for gentrification and displacement in the Bay Area" by one publication,²⁵ despite the passage of \$600 million in a city bond program that included funds for affordable housing and community development.²⁶

It's not surprising that private investment outpaces public funds as it has myriad finance structures that pool investor monies globally that multiply profit-making opportunities. In the Bay Area, these pooled capital funds converted distressed mortgage property to speculative rentals, and then issued and sold private securities, using the rental income stream for return on investment.²⁷ In Baltimore, similar funds were evicting residents and flipping properties.²⁸ The financialization of housing, on full display during the Great Recession foreclosure crisis, has not abated.²⁹

In each of these cities, the political alignment among developers, politicians, homeowners (and landlords), speculative real estate capital, and private lenders intersect to create displacement and maintain inequity.

Baltimore is not alone in its attempts to grapple with a rising tide of gentrification.

In 2017, a group of funders in California came together to address gentrification and displacement in the state and nationally.³⁰ They observed that market-driven development, government policy, structural racism, and unequal power dynamics were mutually reinforcing systems at play in gentrification and displacement. The answer, they concluded, lay in "addressing the unequal power relations between lowincome communities and the economic and political elite that now define development decision-making."³¹

Taking on these unequal power relations involves organizing, public policies, and new narratives of development.

Roundtable Principles

•

n 2013, the Baltimore Roundtable settled upon principles for equitable development as the cornerstone for organizing, public policy, and a narrative around community-driven development. It was not alone. Equity frameworks exist in dozens of cities, including Seattle, Minneapolis, and Oakland. The Government Alliance on Race and Equity has supported and advanced these efforts with a toolkit and resource guide.³²

The Baltimore Roundtable used the following human rights principles, all intertwined and all equally important:

- **EQUITY** Development policies must enable equality *of outcome* in meeting human needs, thereby prioritizing populations and communities with the greatest need and those of color.
- UNIVERSALITY Development shall increase all residents' ability to access the resources required to meet their fundamental human needs. No single development goal should take precedence over another, as all are inter-related. (For example, good jobs must not come at the cost of involuntary displacement.)

PARTICIPATION – Development is a process that must *actively* engage city residents and support their decisions on how their fundamental needs should be met.

- **TRANSPARENCY** Development policies must be open and accessible with regard to information and decision-making.
- ACCOUNTABILITY There must be a means for holding government and private actors accountable for failing to meet human rights standards.

In 2018, the Baltimore City Council passed an Equity Assessment Program that seeks to close the gaps in policy, practice, and allocation of city resources so that "race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, and income do not predict one's success, while also improving outcomes for all."³³ Other cities preceded Baltimore with their own equity frameworks and others have followed since.³⁴ The need to apply such a framework is acute. But to do so with rigor requires significantly rethinking current approaches to land ownership, capital, lending, and decision-making.

Taking on the Structural Forces of Inequitable Development

he political alignments around higher property values, which also attracts speculative capital and exacerbates racialized lending, are structural forces that

impede inclusionary development. While many of these issues are deeply entrenched in our communities, there are, in fact, effective ways to deal with each.

WEAKENING & BREAKING THE POLITICAL ALIGNMENTS AROUND HIGHER PROPERTY VALUES

City governments are largely dependent on the use and value of land for revenue. Since most cities rely on property taxes,³⁵ when land prices are bid up through competition for this limited commodity, city revenues increase. If the locality has an income tax, higher income households drawn to expensive properties will also add to public coffers. And increased



commercial activity will add to the sales, excise, and entertainment taxes that many cities also use. For example, the District of Columbia was on the verge of bankruptcy in the 1990s and made subject to a federal "financial control board."³⁶ But, increasing gentrification over the last 15 years has made surplus budgets common in D.C. as property and income tax revenues have risen.³⁷

In addition, in many cities, hospitals, colleges and museums are exempt from property taxes because of their nonprofit status,³⁸ putting even more pressure on cities to embrace policies that drive up land values and attract high-income households.

All of this incentivizes policies that allow or actively fuel speculation. The prevalence of local campaign support from real estate developers gives city elected officials an additional incentive to favor speculation, and the windfall to homeowners (and landlords) from increased home equity resulting from higher land values keeps these officials in office, as homeowners (and landlords) are more likely to vote than the residents most harmed by speculation—renters, or people without housing.³⁹

COMMUNITY LAND OWNERSHIP

Community land ownership provides one way to flip this toxic script. Community Land Trusts (CLTs) "right size" land values through non-profit, democratically controlled, residentled organizations that own land upon which housing, urban agriculture, or commercial development occurs. Property resale values are set not by the speculative forces of the marketplace, but by community values, embodied in ground leases, which can ensure affordability for generations. Furthermore, community and private ownership can co-exist on the same block. $^{\rm 40}$

CLTs transform residents from interested bystanders to actual agents of neighborhood development. Control of land means the ability to curb housing speculation, intervene in the siting of pollutants, and preserve neighborhood businesses. It also allows the development of low-income housing, solar energy, fresh food, and communityoriented enterprises.

Control of land means the ability to curb housing speculation, intervene in the siting of pollutants, and preserve neighborhood businesses.

Roughly 225 CLTs exist nationally, stewarding an estimated 35,000 rental, 30,000 co-op and 19,000 homeownership units, and operating urban gardens and commercial property.⁴¹

CLTs are founded upon concepts most of us already have about property values and housing: 1) There is public and private ownership; and 2) Schools, transportation, retail stores, safety, and community cohesion all impact private property values and improvements related thereto put upward pressure on housing and commercial rents.

New to this understanding is the idea that private profit (equity) from increased land and housing prices should be shared with the community that helped produce it. CLTs operationalize this "shared equity" through ground leases that "right size" the profit (equity) return to individual homeowners, landlords and businesses, making CLT properties perpetually affordable. If brought to scale, CLTs can create a housing sector that is relatively immune from speculation and provides a safe harbor against involuntary displacement—for renters, homeowners, neighborhood businesses, and urban farmers. CLT homes were relatively immune to delinquency and eviction during the foreclosure crisis because of the community safety net inherent in the model.⁴²

Community land ownership is a means to strike a more appropriate balance between the private use of property and its public impact. Local zoning, land use, or development regulations alone are inadequate because they too often perpetuate economic and racial power dynamics.

Community land ownership is a new player added to the political dynamic, and as such, acts as a first step to a different political economy paradigm in development. CLTs form a new political flank, with new values. As direct agents of community development within a democratically run community-based organization, CLT participants can collectively act upon the kind of higher community values that are often subordinated when they are acting as individual homeowners, renters, or businesses. Operationalizing the balance between private ownership and public responsibility in democratic CLT organizations, they are better able to envision, create, and mobilize around equitable public policies from a place of direct experience.

Getting Community Land Ownership to Scale

Community ownership is challenging, particularly amid financial and government systems that prioritize private ownership. Successful CLTs, like traditional Community Development Corporations (CDCs), take on a host of planning, pre-development, and development activities. They differ from CDCs in that they hold property forever, set resale terms, and are governed by residents, neighbors, and stakeholders. Community organizing, however, is the key to building the political power necessary to get to scale. In Baltimore, organizing helped create a Housing Trust Fund (that includes CLTs), leverage a Trust Fund tax, and secure city bond commitments. But CLTs will need to gain a lion's share of these resources to get to a scale that will pierce the political alignment around property values. Otherwise, affordable housing will remain marginalized. With that in mind, Baltimore activists mobilized around and secured a CLT priority in the city's housing trust fund for its first three years.⁴³

Using City Bonds to Scale Up, Meet Need, and Deliver Equity

Municipal debt enables cities to build and update basic infrastructure (roads, parks, police and fire stations, courthouses, schools), but it also subsidizes projects targeted for tourists and developers (arenas, convention centers, hotels, or roads and infrastructure for corporate headquarters). This debt is in the form of "bonds," which come in many varieties. It is a key to scaling equitable development.

General Obligation bonds (GO bonds) are the most basic from of municipal debt and are backed by the city's general taxing power. **Revenue bonds** are supported by specific income streams from projects that the bonds have financed (fees from housing or industrial developments). **Tax Increment Financing** (**TIF**) bonds are a hybrid of the first two treating expected increases in city property tax revenue *within a designated geographic area* as a specific income stream to support a project within that area financed by the bonds. (See more on TIFs below.)

Bonds are purchased by investors attracted to their tax-exempt status, which compensates for their low interest rates. Investors seeking higher rates of return will invest instead in private bonds, stocks, commodities, currencies, real estate and the like.

GO and Revenue bonds are given ratings by bond agencies that effectively determine the interest rate a city will pay on the bonds. (TIF bonds in most cities are not rated). As higher interest rates constitute a larger "debt service" slice of the city budget pie (possibly "crowding out" other city priorities), most cities limit the amount that can be borrowed ("issued") annually and/or that can be outstanding at any one time. Bonds are generally used for "bricks and mortar" projects. While some proceeds can go to the other costs related to development, the use of public debt to pay for personnel or operating expenses is frowned upon by rating agencies.

With the disappearance of industrial jobs, many cities pivoted to hospitality, entertainment, and tourism as employment sectors. Municipal bonds (also called MUNIs) were used to create much of this infrastructure.⁴⁴ For the most part, MUNIs are still used to maintain and expand these "downtown" developments, while many poor neighborhoods of color are ignored.⁴⁵ Additionally, the hospitality and entertainment jobs maintained by this infrastructure often keep workers impoverished.⁴⁶

While practically all state and local laws require public bonds to be issued for "public" purposes, their use often perpetuates structural racism and inequality.

A 2018 racial equity assessment of Baltimore's Capital Budget by the city's own planning department found that MUNI spending in predominantly White neighborhoods outpaced spending in neighborhoods of color by alarming margins.⁴⁷ An average of \$15 million was authorized for projects in Baltimore neighborhoods where residents were at least 75% White. Only \$8 million was authorized in areas where residents were more than 75% people of color.⁴⁸ A class-based analysis showed a similar pattern, as did a 2020 Urban Institute report.^{49,50} In short, Baltimore subsidizes their wealthiest residents at the expense of those most in need. The city is not alone.⁵¹

While practically all state and local laws require public bonds to be issued for "public" purposes, their use often perpetuates structural racism and inequality.

MUNI-funded projects should be guided by racial, economic, and gender equity standards, but rarely are. Capital budgets can be visionary, strategically directing projects and jobs to neighborhoods that live in the footprint of structural racism. Bond projects can employ city-residents (particularly those with arrest records) to deconstruct, demolish and renovate vacant houses, replace decaying schools, "green" properties, build grocery stores, create urban gardens, and construct health-care clinics. These projects yield longterm social value and are ideal for GO bonds. Investors buy these bonds with little regard for project type, as the returns are backed by the "city's full faith and credit" promise. Spreading bond repayment over decades enables cost to be spread to future taxpayers who will also reap the benefits of today's investments.

Getting to Deeply Affordable Housing

Given the decades of federal cuts to public and subsidized housing, the greatest need for housing in most cities is for those whose incomes are at or below 30% of the Area Median Income (AMI). These AMIs levels can differ by city and region. In the Baltimore metro region, the 30% AMI level for a threeperson household in 2021 was \$28,400.

"DOWNTOWN" DEVELOPMENT & TIFS

Many cities have publicly subsidized downtown tourist, entertainment, and hospitality sectors through discounted land, property tax breaks, payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs), municipal bonds and their junk-bond cousin, tax increment financing (TIF) bonds.⁵²

This strategy was spearheaded by Rust Belt cities in order to replace jobs and commerce that declined with the exit of manufacturing and industrial employers in the 1960s, but it was also a response to the gains of the civil rights movement during the same period, as noted by Randolph Hohle in *Race and the Origins of American Neoliberalism*.⁵³ The result was an increasingly privatized public downtown, based on the fundamental fiction that raising the tides of downtown developers, hoteliers, professional sports owners, commercial office investors, restaurateurs, and other financial moguls would lift all boats.

The "trickle down" promise of job creation was, for the most part, false. Repeated studies have shown that job creation numbers were exaggerated by publicly subsidized developers, and that the expanded tourist, entertainment, and hospitality sectors generated low-wage jobs with little dignity.⁵⁴ Cities that now rely on tourism and entertainment find the sector a slippery slope. Convention centers and hotels must upgrade and expand frequently to keep pace with other cities, requiring more public subsidies just to stay even.

While much of downtown infrastructure was built in the late 20th century with MUNIs or federal Urban Development Action grants (UDAG) that prioritized commercial real estate developers rather than residents,⁵⁵ TIF became the tool of choice in the 1980s and 1990s and is still popular in many cities today.⁵⁶

TIFs operate on an inequitable fiction that cities can create financially "gated" sub-communities

that eventually will benefit the entire city, like the downtown subsidies that came before. TIF bonds pay for infrastructure that supports development in a target zone specified by legislation. The bonds are paid off through the expected increased property tax revenue the zone will produce once the project is completed. If the expected tax revenue fails to support the debt, most TIFs require a surtax on the target zone property.

While target zone property taxes will only support the TIF bonds, increased police, fire, education, or other city services that the target zone needs will be paid by a city's general fund. In short, all city taxpayers will subsidize city services to the target zone, but zone property taxes will go only to TIF debt service.

This inequity is compounded if formula-based state aid to localities uses property values in their equations. For example, TIF projects in Baltimore increased city property values to the extent that state educational funding to the entire city was reduced.⁵⁷ The state formula made the traditional and reasonable assumption that city property value increases meant increased city general fund revenue. The formula didn't account for the financially gated TIF communities, where those property tax revenues were being used to pay off TIF bonds and were thus bypassing the city's general fund.

There are numerous studies indicating that TIFs do not accomplish their promised goal of promoting economic development.⁵⁸ California, one of the first states to fall in love with TIFs, now requires 55% voter approval, affordable housing increase or preservation, and extensive transparency on all its current TIFs. Where TIFs are inevitable, activists have managed to link them legislatively with affordable housing, city-first hiring, living wages, or community benefits.⁵⁹ Within the city itself, the 30% AMI level was \$15,113.⁶⁰ Regardless, those relying on public assistance and living on the street are well below 30% AMI.

The primary tools used to provide housing at these levels, which the federal Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) call "extremely low-income" (ELI), are public housing and housing vouchers. A significant expansion in vouchers and long overdue public housing investments were included in President Biden's proposed \$3.5 trillion "Build Back Better" budget reconciliation bill and in his FY2023 budget.

Build Back Better also included funds for CLTs. Historically, CLTs have served households earning on average 50-80% AMI.⁶¹ But recently, CLTs have been reaching the ELI group. In a recent report done by Partners for Dignity & Rights, we studied 10 CLTs that provided a total of 288 housing units, with 67% (192) affordable to those with incomes at 30 percent of AMI or lower. Residents were either rental tenants or co-op participants.⁶²

These community controlled housing developers used a mix of finance tools for property acquisition, development, and operating expenses. They also were highly motivated to reach deep affordability, driven by their community membership. They also differed from traditional low-income housing providers in that they:

- Keep the housing permanently affordable and retain the public subsidies to ensure as much; and
- Keep tenants secure and not subject to involuntary displacement when market conditions change or subsidies expire.

Increased federal investments in deeply affordable housing are badly needed.

In the meantime, community activism and mobilization have resulted in the creation of state and local affordable housing trust funds, bond measures, site acquisition funds, and even operating subsidies for ELI housing.⁶³

CLTs and other forms of community controlled housing (i.e., co-ops and Mutual Housing Associations) are institutions with similar values that can be mobilized politically to promote policy changes that eventually will bring deeply affordable community controlled housing to scale.

DECREASED RELIANCE ON PROPERTY TAXES

Property taxes should not be the primary funding stream for local governments, as it incentivizes policies that allow and encourage real estate speculation.⁶⁴ Cities with low property values and a high demand for city services, like Baltimore, often see *any* development project as the means to jobs and city revenue, regardless of longer-term consequences. Cities flush with property tax revenue also are not immune to temptation.

Cities must diversify their revenue streams. Other revenue sources include progressive income taxation, and taxes on wealth, services, entertainment, property recordation and transfer, as well as state aid formulas that recognize that displacement in cities affects other localities.⁶⁵

Changing tax structures is an uphill political battle. But unless we begin to advance an alternative vision that puts equity at the center of public revenue strategies, we cannot hope to change the ongoing land speculation that displaces working-class communities and leads to unsustainable housing costs.

TAX LEXICON

Wealth Tax — assessment on property that is not tangible or personal (i.e., holdings in stocks, bonds, currencies, commodities, or other instruments that result in monetary gain or loss when sold)

Capital Gains Tax — tax on the gains made from the sale of intangible and tangible property

Property Tax — assessment on real property (land & fixtures)

Service Tax — assessment on services provided to consumer (i.e., accounting, legal, dry cleaning, brokerage, etc.)

Entertainment Tax — assessment on tickets or entry to concerts, sports, arts, or other events that entertain

Property Recordation Tax — assessment on recording of deeds and liens in public records relative to transfer of real property

Property Transfer Tax — assessment on sale of real property

Income Tax — assessment on earnings or other household revenue not generated by property sales, capital gains, etc.

Historically, state and local revenue and expenditure choices have not been guided by principles or values other than budget balancing. In 2011, the Vermont Legislature bowed to a political mobilization sparked by grassroots organizing and created a statutory vision and standard for spending and taxation guided by "outcome measurements" that involve equity, sustainability, and stability.⁶⁶ As indicated earlier, many localities have adopted similar guides, most with a racial equity focus.⁶⁷

In order to help build pressure toward enacting tax justice, the first challenge is translating narratives of how tax policy impacts people's daily lives into accessible terms. We must also develop strategies that ensure that tax policy decisions are made in more participatory ways. For example, people who do not own property may not see how property tax decisions impact them. And it may be counterintuitive to assume that relying on property taxes for revenue can hurt their interests. But if that overreliance leads to pressure to increase land values, eventually rents will rise and people will be pushed out of their homes.

There are opportunities to tell that story in ways people both understand and respond to with political action. One powerful entry point is targeting outside speculators.

A PEOPLE'S BUDGET

In 2013, the Vermont Workers' Center mobilized a statewide campaign to transform the state budgeting process.

Instead of beginning with an estimate of revenue (money) available to spend, the *Peoples Budget* campaign directed lawmakers to first assess fundamental human needs: clean air and water, healthy and sufficient food, housing, health and health care, education, social & income security, and dignified work.⁶⁸

Budgeting decisions, the *Peoples Budget* said, must be explicitly connected to accountability measures, so that Vermont could assess people's needs, and evaluate progress and outcomes in meeting those needs, using indicators based on human rights principles.

Public participation in the entire budget process was sought, especially in developing goals and priorities for spending and raising money. The budget process was to be fully transparent. Revenue policy (taxes) was to follow from spending policy



The campaign achieved partial success. Vermont law now mandates that "state spending and revenue policies will... recognize every person's need for health, housing, dignified work, education, food, social security, and a healthy environment," and be designed to "address those needs by advancing dignity and equity." Taxes are to be based on "the principles of sustainability and stability," and budget and revenue proposals are to be part of a transparent and accountable process with direct and meaningful participation from Vermont residents.⁷⁰ The law, however, remains unenforced.





PUBLIC FINANCING OF CAMPAIGNS

Another means to reduce the influence of developers and real estate speculators in local policy is to reduce their influence in financing political campaigns. While the Supreme Court has limited campaign finance reform,⁷¹ states and localities are moving into the vacuum with their own public financing mechanisms.⁷²

In addition to the 14 states that currently have some form of public financing in place, New York City, Denver, Berkeley, Baltimore, and two counties in Maryland have all created public finance systems within the last few years that provide matching funds to candidates who forgo large contributions and/or stay within certain contribution ceilings.⁷³ While these programs do not limit or restrict campaign contributions from developers, they do aid candidates who agree to accept only small contributions and subject themselves to limits that are unattractive to big donors. At the least, public financing may help to distinguish candidates from each other and allow voters to assess candidate susceptibility to influence from developers and the real estate industrial complex.

In conclusion, there's a powerful political alignment around higher property values that leaves out renters, the unhoused, and those on fixed incomes. It can be weakened through a number of tactical tools.

CURBING SPECULATIVE CAPITAL'S IMPACT ON REAL ESTATE

As noted earlier, wealth and income inequality has produced a glut of "savings" that circles the globe looking for returns on investment. Much of these savings have gone into real estate, which in 2020 accounted for two-thirds of global net worth.⁷⁴ This increased demand from speculation has pushed prices for rental housing and homeownership higher, even as the housing bubble collapse and Great Recession shifted the proportions of each.75 The fundamental human right of housing is being steadily eroded by a surplus of capital. The production and distribution of this surplus must be curtailed and brought under control to ensure residents the right to housing in their communities. The public interest requires that state and local governments tax this surplus and place it in funds that maximize democratic participation and distribution.⁷⁶

"POOLED FUNDS" ENTITIES

Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs): Own and operate residential buildings, offices, hospitals, and hotels, using the rental income as dividend payments to REIT shareholders.

Statutory Trusts: Acquire property for the primary purpose of re-selling it. These profits go to trust benefactors, under the Uniform Statutory Trust Entity Act (USTEA) and enjoy tax benefits.

Private Equity Real Estate: Acquire, finance, or own property, again paying profits to investors. Unlike REITs, investors in these funds require a high amount of capital.



REGULATING SPECULATORS VIA TRANSPARENCY

Speculation thrives on complex legal arrangements and structures that make accountability difficult. In Baltimore, Oaktree Capital Management, a private equity fund, had purchased distressed mortgages at a discount from the federal government and profited by foreclosing upon some, using predatory refinancing terms with others, or, in still other cases, simply holding vacant property until property values rose.⁷⁷

Homeowners threatened with foreclosure saw Selene Finance as the culprit.⁷⁸ Yet Selene was a mortgage servicer, not the property owner. Lawyers were able discover that the property owner was "Christiana Trust Series IV-A," a Delaware Statutory Trust. But the ultimate beneficiary of that trust was Oaktree Capital Management, a private equity fund.⁷⁹ This was not apparent even in litigation documents.

These trusts and LLCs are key components of financial capitalism, but their beneficial owners are hidden. Efforts to reveal these owners have been limited to date. At the federal level, the (mistitled) 2021 Corporate Transparency Act requires beneficial owner information to be filed for law enforcement purposes but prohibits public information access.⁸⁰ Few states require this information.⁸¹

Yet, these corporations are publicly created under laws that grant them legal status and financial liability protections. The rights and privileges they are granted are for us to determine.⁸² Imposing beneficial owner information and reporting requirements on these actors, particularly with respect to property acquisitions and dispositions, is a foundational step to curtailing speculation.

DIVESTING PUBLIC PENSION FUNDS FROM SPECULATIVE CAPITAL

Public pension funds have a fiduciary obligation to have enough assets to pay benefits when due, so they seek to optimize long-term returns while avoiding risk. These objectives, however, can lead pension



investments into funds that fuel real estate speculation, thereby causing involuntary displacement or furthering blight.

For example, Baltimore Roundtable advocates were shocked to learn that the Maryland state employee pension system had investments in Oaktree Capital Management, whose real estate speculation was pushing Marylanders into foreclosure.⁸³ Texas, Oregon, Illinois, Washington, and Contra Costa County, CA, have also invested in Oaktree.⁸⁴

U.S. Census data shows that 5,340 state and locally administered defined benefit public pensions systems existed in 2020.⁸⁵ These funds controlled \$4.6 trillion in cash and investment holdings, taking in roughly \$237 million in employee contributions.⁸⁶

These employee contributions effectively come from the public, as do additional governmental contributions during pension funding shortfalls. We should not invest in real estate speculation that may cause our own displacement.

In the last twenty years, socially responsible investment (SRI) and environmental, social, and corporate governance (ESG) guidelines have become more prominent.⁸⁷ States and localities should adopt SRI and/or ESG valuebased investing and show taxpayers where all public pension investments are made.

If requiring responsible investment makes states and localities nervous, they should simply prohibit pension funds from investing in real estate or in larger funds that include real estate ventures. Such funds are inherently speculative and lead to the involuntarily displacement of poor renters and homeowners on fixed incomes and force our neighbors to into homelessness. Needless to say, this does not advance any "public interest."

LIMITING PRIVATE PENSION INVESTMENTS IN SPECULATIVE CAPITAL

Anchor institutions (colleges, hospitals, and the like) increasingly are being challenged to engage in community investment, purchasing, and other equitable practices in their home cities.⁸⁸ Pension fund investments of these institutions should be scrutinized as well.

Private pensions are more difficult to regulate because they are governed by the federal Employee Retirement Insurance Act (ERISA), which pre-empts state and local law impacting ERISA-related benefits.⁸⁹ ERISA prioritizes profit over social investments but does permit social goals when returns are competitive.⁹⁰ In short, anchor institution pension funds can shun real estate speculation when evaluating a host of investment options with similar rates of return.

Localities can steer them in this direction and avoid ERISA pre-emption by looking to the contractual agreements they typically negotiate with nonprofit anchor institutions relative to their tax-exempt property. As nonprofits, anchor institutions require city services, yet are exempt from local property taxes. In response, many cities have created Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) or other special assessment agreements with the anchors.⁹¹ Since 2000, 118 municipalities and 18 states have utilized these arrangements.⁹²

Periodically, cities facing budget crises or other fiscal exigencies have threatened additional fees on tax-exempt anchor institutions, but stayed their hand when anchors agreed to amend PILOTs or contractual agreements to provide more city revenue.⁹³ In Baltimore, the National Nurses Union partnered with community activists on re-opening and revising "anchor PILOTs" because of city fiscal need, and issued a report documenting the lack of equity in these agreements, given anchor institution wealth, property holdings, and executive compensation.⁹⁴ The union tried to push the city council in 2020 to re-examine the PILOTs, with an eye toward increasing anchor payments to the city, but was unsuccessful.⁹⁵

USING PROPERTY TRANSFER AND OTHER TAXES TO REDIRECT CAPITAL TO LOCAL TRUST FUNDS

The agents of financial capitalism, Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs), Delaware Statutory Trusts, and Limited Liability Corporations (LLCs) shape local real estate markets by buying and flipping property, but they must "record" their property transactions at the local level. Most localities have the power to assess transfer taxes, recordation fees and other charges and direct these monies into local housing trust or equitable development funds. In some areas, state authorization is needed. But this is a key intervention point, as opaque corporate actors and subsidiaries are exposed financially.⁹⁸

Legally, these charges are not property taxes and do not affect ongoing ownership.⁹⁹ By imposing these "excise taxes" on those who are in the business of buying and

"PAY YOUR FAIR SHARE"

In December 2019, a Labor-Community *Coalition for a Humane Hopkins* called on Baltimore's mayor to reopen and renegotiate the city's 2016 "Nonprofit Assessment Agreement" with 15 of Baltimore's major non-profit hospitals, colleges and universities, including Johns Hopkins Hospital and the University of Maryland Medical Center.

National Nurses United spearheaded the coalition and published a detailed analysis of the non-profit agreements.⁹⁶ The contribution by ten hospitals and four colleges to the City constituted a mere 5% of the property tax revenue that would have been collected if the institutions were for-profit. The report noted that Boston's anchor institutions contributed 25% of what would be paid in property taxes as for-profits.

In a city where the median earnings for Black households stand at \$33,801 annually,⁹⁷ Johns Hopkins Hospital and its Bayview/Health System paid out \$211 million in executive compensation over a



four-year period. The University of Maryland Medical Center paid \$80 million to its executives. Both Hopkins and Maryland showed operating budget surpluses during a period where the city faced annual deficits. In addition to being exempt from local property taxes, the medical systems reaped millions in state rate-setting and charity care subsidies.

The coalition, which included teachers, community landowners, and housing and environmental activists, pushed to increase the non-profit assessments to the Boston level, which would have netted the city an additional \$23.9 million annually in revenue. The measure was rejected. selling properties solely for profit, localities can simultaneously put the brakes on land speculation (if the taxes are prohibitive) while capturing a portion of speculative capital to meet the fundamental needs of city residents.

But these are not the only means to capture the excess capital that is pushing housing beyond our reach. States should look critically at these tax code changes if they haven't already enacted them:

- "Combined reporting," which is a method for calculating a corporation's state taxable income that requires corporations to include profits from all parent and subsidiary companies when calculating their tax responsibility. This reform prevents corporations from using accounting gimmicks to shift their profits on paper into low-tax or no-tax jurisdictions.
- Utilizing a "throwback rule" that enables a state to tax profits from out-of-state sales that go untaxed. Specifically, when a corporation in State A sells goods into state B that does not have jurisdiction to tax those sales, the reform assigns the resulting income to State A for the purpose of calculating the company's tax bill.
- Close any LLC loopholes, by enacting an entity-level taxes on the largest LLCs, partnerships, and S-corporations, while exempting sole proprietorships.
- Close the "carried interest loophole," which allows performance-related income of certain investment fund managers to offset federal taxation of this income at the lower federal capital gains rate.
- Enact a capital gains surtax on the state level.
- Eliminate state tax breaks used primarily by investors (for example, those provided

in New York to multi-family landlords via Consolidation, Extension, and Modification Agreements¹⁰⁰).

In addition, wealth taxes could assess shares in for-profit real estate trusts and corporations. There are collection challenges, however, for localities and states. A federal level assessment would help. Indeed, both Elizabeth Warren and Bernie Sanders advanced wealth tax proposals in their 2020 presidential campaigns to finance more universal housing systems.

People increasingly understand that hedge funds, equity funds, and other organs of the finance sector are a large cause of the inequality and the economic pain Americans are experiencing. This financial capitalism avoids accountability by operating within an antiquated tax system crafted during industrial capitalism. Changing the overall tax structure is a heavy lift, but local activists and policy makers can tag this global capital when it touches ground in their communities and demonstrate how it impacts our ability to meet our fundamental needs.

People increasingly understand that hedge funds, equity funds, and other organs of the finance sector are a large cause of the inequality and the economic pain Americans are experiencing.

Different types of anti-speculation taxes have been passed in Oakland (vacant property assessment),¹⁰¹ considered in Philadelphia,¹⁰² and advanced as a concept in Pittsburgh.¹⁰³ Baltimore's property transfer surtax began as a tax on pooled capital, and then morphed to a tax on property transactions solely between businesses. Surprisingly, this businesslimitation would have captured more than two-thirds of city *residential* property



Divest, Tax & Invest in Human Needs

transfers annually. Eventually, the proposal was scaled down to cover only property sales above \$1 million, which yields roughly \$13 million annually that goes directly into a local affordable housing trust fund.¹⁰⁴

Putting this tax money into dedicated, non-lapsing trust funds pledged to deeply affordable housing, reparations, or equity maximizes the opportunity for more democratic forms of public expenditure, such as participatory budgeting.

In conclusion, various strategies can be used at the state and local level to curb speculative capital's impact on development. Public pension funds must be divested from real estate, as should private pensions run by locally subsidized anchor institutions. Real estate divestment from other sources of capital (mutual, insurance, college, personal retirement) also is necessary but involve tactical mobilizations to gain more control over private investment decisions. Models of governance might be gleaned from the current attempts to democratize private investment, such as the Ujima Fund, ROC USA, East Portland Community Investment Trust, all examined by Transform Finance in its 2021 report, *Grassroots Community Engaged Investment.*¹⁰⁵

But divestment alone will not stop speculative capital's impact on rents, home prices, and development costs. State and local tax-capture of its profits and redirection into community-governed funds can give communities power to fight back and claim property for equitable development.

ENDING RACIALIZED LENDING

Development rarely happens without loaned money. For-profit, private lending plays a key role in every type of development, from home mortgages to large commercial real estate projects, as well as in the creation of alternative housing models such as CLT rental and homeownership, and co-op housing. Small businesses, such as co-ops, frequently rely on credit and debt to handle emergencies, expansions, and start-up. According to the 2018 Small Business Credit Survey, traditional bank lending continues to be the primary source of funding for small businesses.¹⁰⁶ The repayment of debt impacts both housing affordability and business sustainability.

Not surprisingly, private, for-profit lenders (with public policy assistance) played a key role in the racial and class disparities that we see in development today. As Jeremie Greer, co-founder and director of *Liberation in a Generation*, recently wrote,

Black people and other people of color are by design excluded from accessing the very products and services that provide households with financial security. This includes bank accounts, retirement and personal savings accounts, prime credit cards, insurance, mortgages, and small business loans. They may be excluded by geography (lack of bank branches, or higher auto insurance rates in formerly redlined neighborhoods), lower wages due to employment discrimination and segregation, the wealth gap itself (for example, account minimums, or lack of a cushion to maintain on-time payments during an emergency), or outright lending bias.

This exclusion then leads to a vicious cycle: the financial services industry exploits the very insecurity it has created by offering predatory products and services, which strip income and wealth, to Black people and other communities of color who have been kept from access to better ones.¹⁰⁷

Redlining may have ended, but it was only the opening salvo of decades of racialized

lending, as the lending industry continues to find and use new means to discriminate.

PROFITS, RACE & RISK

The federal government's Home Owner's Loan Corporation maps of 1937, which classified neighborhoods by perceived financial risk from the lowest ("green") to highest ("red"), guided private lending for decades thereafter. Black households and European immigrants that populated "red" neighborhoods were effectively excluded from bank credit and were subject to predatory and exploitative lenders.¹⁰⁸ While immigrants eventually were able to develop lending institutions that were accepted by other lenders (the Bank of Italy in San Francisco became today's Bank of America¹⁰⁹), Black financial institutions were not.

From the time of the first redline map to the enactment of the Community Reinvestment Act of 1977, the U.S. economy grew phenomenally, and a White middle class was created at the expense of Black households. Labor unions, the GI Bill, federal mortgage insurance, and suburban "covenant" communities all worked to hold Black households back, and away from the wealth, education, and political power that Whites enjoyed.

By the time law and practice changed, manufacturing jobs had been replaced by service sector jobs, providing high earnings to those with advanced education, but low wages for those without. Given how education is financed—through property taxes and household wealth—Black people again found themselves penalized.

The racialized footprints created post-World War II in this country are still with us today. And so is racialized lending.

"Predatory inclusion" is the term used by Keeanga-Yamahtta Taylor in her book describing a late 1960s attempt by the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) and the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to increase Black homeownership, but the term could be used for the last 60 years.

Fueled by HUD-FHA guarantees, the late 60s saw low-income Black households targeted for expensive and extractive mortgages for substandard homes in already segregated urban areas.

The passage of the Fair Housing Act in 1968, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act of 1974 (ECOA), and the Community Reinvestment Act of 1977 led to a change in form, but not practice.¹¹⁰ Unlike 1939 when race indicated financial risk, today financial risk indicates race. One commentator aptly called this "The Coloring of Risk."¹¹¹

The Community Reinvestment Act

In 1977, the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) was passed to outlaw redlining, eleven years after the Fair Housing Act was passed to forbid any racial discrimination in housing lending. It wasn't enough.

The CRA was crafted for transparency. The 1977 legislation encourages but doesn't require depository institutions to meet the credit needs of the low- and moderateincome (LMI) neighborhoods in which they operate. Each institution's record in extending such credit is evaluated periodically. These evaluations are considered during mergers, acquisitions, or applications for other deposit facilities.

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) banks are graded every three to four years on 1) lending to LMI households and neighborhoods in which they are located; 2) supporting community development projects; and 3) maintaining branches in LMI neighborhoods.

The CRA has indeed drawn bank capital into community development.¹¹² Roughly \$35.6 billion per year, according to the National Community Reinvestment Coalition (NCRC), is provided by the 25 largest banks, in grants, community development loans, and investments through CRA.¹¹³ And CRA-related advocacy during times of bank mergers also have produced nine significant "community agreements" since March 2016.¹¹⁴

But the CRA lacks teeth.¹¹⁵ Not only has it suffered from "grade inflation," it has failed to keep pace with institutional changes in lending and to eliminate the many mutations of redlining since 1977.

The number of banks servicing poorer neighborhoods has dropped precipitously. Mergers and acquisitions have caused twothirds of banking institutions to disappear since the early 1980s—declining from nearly 18,000 in 1984 to fewer than 5,000 in 2021.¹¹⁶ Small banks have suffered the greatest decline and the branch closure rate doubled during the pandemic.¹¹⁷ Furthermore, one-third of the branches closed from 2017 to 2021 were in a low- to moderate-income and/or a majority-minority neighborhood where, as NCRC noted, "access to branches is crucial to ending inequities in access to financial services."¹¹⁸

A RACIALIZED FORECLOSURE CRISIS & REMEDY

Thirty years after the CRA was enacted, rolling multiple mortgages into securities had advanced to the point that securities were rolled into more securities. Black households again were targeted to provide profitable oxygen to a housing bubble. Sub-prime lending and a host of predatory practices were used to pull households into what was essentially a global pyramid scheme, with government acquiescence and support.

Its collapse and the mortgage foreclosure crisis harmed Black households and other households of color disproportionately.¹¹⁹ But the cure was worse than the disease.

Congress passed the Dodd-Frank Act to address irresponsible lending practices, requiring residential mortgage loans on terms that "reasonably reflect (consumer's) ability to repay ... are understandable and not unfair, deceptive, or abusive."¹²⁰ This appeared reasonable enough.

But in 2014, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) finalized regulations to implement the legislation, adopting restrictive ability-to-repay and Qualified Mortgage Rules (QMR).¹²¹ The final rule allowed only borrowers with a debt-to-income ratio lower than 43% to be eligible for qualified mortgages.¹²² The rule makers already knew this would disproportionately harm borrowers of color. Four years earlier, the Federal Reserve Board had found that 34% of Black mortgage borrowers and 32% of Hispanic mortgage borrowers would be ineligible for a qualified mortgage based solely on their inability to satisfy a 43% debt-to-income requirement.¹²³ Yet the QMR rules were approved.

In addition to these debt-income ratios, homeownership counseling agencies reported that banks also shunned those with records of foreclosure, bankruptcy, and bad credit.¹²⁴

These characteristics are the scars of predatory lending. Those who tried to save their homes emerged invariably with records of poor credit, bankruptcy, and poor debt-to-income ratios.¹²⁵ Given that Black households were targeted for speculative and abusive



sub-prime mortgages in the 2000s, banks were able to blame their victims as a pretext to redline again.¹²⁶

Reveal analyzed the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA) data in 2015-2016, controlling for nine economic and social factors, and found that Black households were refused mortgage loans at higher rates than Whites in 48 states.¹²⁷ Latinx households were turned away similarly in 24 states.¹²⁸

According to *Reveal*, banks recoiled at the suggestion of racism, instead

...they maintain that the disparity can be explained by factors the industry has fought to keep hidden, including the prospective borrowers' credit history and overall debt-to-income ratio. They singled out the three-digit credit score which banks use to determine whether a borrower is likely to repay a loan—as especially important in lending decisions.¹²⁹

A study of HMDA data in 2014 by Fair-Housing-Advocates in Richmond, Virginia showed similar results to *Reveal's* study.¹³⁰ The borrower's income levels could not account for the disparate treatment.¹³¹ NCRC also found in 2015 that "race matters most in mortgage lending" in Baltimore.¹³²

Home ownership has often been touted as the quickest way to wealth for most people of color, regardless of history.¹³³ Wealth is needed because our economic system and public policies do not enable all of us to meet our fundamental human needs by earnings, social insurance, or public assistance. Delayed in starting this wealth pursuit by racist public policy and private lending practices, Black households and other households of color had nevertheless been making gains in homeownership relative to Whites since the 1970s. Predatory lending and the Great Recession pushed them backward.¹³⁴ New mutations of discrimination are ensuring that they stay behind. White family median net worth is now nearly 10 times that of Black families, primarily because of mortgage lending disparities.¹³⁵

PLACE AS RACE

The commercial credit market also is not color blind. Literature has shown that higher denial rates for Black and Hispanic small business loan applicants are an ongoing issue.¹³⁶ The Great Recession also led to steep reductions in Small Business Administration 7(a) lending to Black business owners.¹³⁷ Business owners in wealthier areas received the largest share of loans: in six of seven metro areas analyzed, more than 70% of loans went to middle- and upper-income neighborhoods.¹³⁸

Indeed, these place based disparities in lending may pass a risk analysis, but fail racial equity tests. Market typology, which maps neighborhoods by vacant property incidence, rental-homeownership rates, and other data key to profit-loss decisions of investors, has replaced the HOLC maps of 1939 as a guide for lenders and investors.¹³⁹ Some formerly redlined neighborhoods are still underinvested. Others have flipped.

> "Appraisal bias" is another form of modern-day redlining, where the valuations of homeowners of color are significantly lower than identical homes owned by Whites.

Regardless, the maps reflect property values, and those values are lowest where persons of color reside.

This leads to an "appraisal gap" that leaves community-based and non-profit developers



Now they use Typology Maps that echo the past

starved for loans in their attempts at neighborhood re-investment in neighborhoods of color.¹⁴⁰ For example, a typical vacant rowhouse in Baltimore requires anywhere from \$100,000 to \$200,000 in rehabilitation. The necessary loans are dependent on the potential price of sale after renovation. But, guided by market typology and sales history, lenders are generally unwilling to provide loan amounts that make it financially viable for a rehab loan. This leaves community developers scrambling to locate funds and gives for-profit developers with capital already in hand a leg up to shape a neighborhood to their liking.

"Appraisal bias" is another form of modern-day redlining, where the valuations of homeowners of color are significantly lower than identical homes owned by Whites.¹⁴¹

Various role players operationalize appraisal "gaps" and appraisal "bias," but the driver is a private lending system with one paramount value—profit—despite the legislative intent and provisions of the Fair Housing Act, the CRA and the EOCA.

OTHER SOURCES OF LENDING: COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FINANCE INSTITUTIONS (CDFI), CREDIT UNIONS, AND COMMUNITY BANKS

The CRA did enable banks to get credit for supporting other financial intermediaries who provide financing to people and institutions that traditional banks often refuse to help. Community Development Finance Institutions (CDFI) are one of those intermediaries, which generally finance lending to predominantly low-income persons, women, minority small business owners, affordable housing developers, and non-profits. CDFIs can be structured as banks, credit unions, as well as loan and venture capital funds. While perceived as non-profit institutions, half of the 1,100 certified CDFIs are for-profit. Almost 30% are credit unions and about 20% are for-profit banks, bank holding companies, or venture capital funds.¹⁴²

In 1994, a federal fund was created to build CDFI capacity, but funding levels have never met demand. Often, CDFIs need to entice mission-oriented investors willing to settle for lower than market rates of return on investment (ROI). In addition, CDFIs need to ensure its lending covers its own debts, despite its desire to lend to those starved for capital. Biden's Build Back Better 2021 proposal included a boost to the federal fund that supports local CDFIs, and some CDFIs have begun to pool their capital to address lending bias.¹⁴³

Credit unions, non-profit financial cooperatives where members pool their money to provide traditional banking services, are another option, as they are allowed by federal regulators to operate with smaller financial cushions than traditional banks. As such, they pay higher interest rates to depositors or lend with a social purpose. Credit unions can be created at the state or federal level, but usually limit their loans to members.¹⁴⁴

Community banks are yet another option. These are institutions that are locally owned, unaffiliated with national banks, and have less than \$10 million in assets.¹⁴⁵ They are a prime source for small business lending, often providing them with favorable borrowing terms. Regardless, mergers, economic crises, and regulatory changes have lessened their number: there were 14,323 community banks in 1988, but only 4,979 at the end of 2018.¹⁴⁶

SOLUTION: PUBLIC BANKING

As with changing the paradigm around higher property values, the introduction of a new institution with different values is a means to change the lending system. That new institution is a public bank. Public banks are not driven by shareholder profits, but community values and solvency.

Created by a municipality or state, a public bank can hold a portion of city or state tax revenue that is usually deposited into a private, commercial bank. Instead of these public funds being used by the private bank to make profits for private shareholders, the public bank uses this money to make loans in the public interest, such as those for deeply affordable housing, small and cooperative businesses, student loans, equitable economic development, or for catalyzing "green" and "just transitions." It also can support a "retail bank" sector that is currently shrinking in lowincome neighborhoods.

The Bank of North Dakota is the only state or local public bank in operation today, but this landscape is changing. The Philadelphia City Council recently created a public financial authority, establishing what is effectively the first city owned public bank in the nation.¹⁴⁷ State legislation in California has created a framework by which localities can establish public banks.¹⁴⁸ New Jersey's governor signed an executive order to create public bank implementation by the end of 2020, which was stalled by COVID, but he recently vowed to fulfill the promise.¹⁴⁹ In addition, legislation is now being considered in New York.¹⁵⁰

Unsurprisingly, private banking is opposed to this effort. It has used its political influence to stop public bank legislation in a host of states and localities, and in some cases has managed to water down language in passed legislation.¹⁵¹



Vision of a Public Bank Lending Ecosystem

But public bank advocates are taking note, adjusting policy frameworks, and building political support by using the potential flexibility of a public bank. A public bank can be the keystone to a new lending system, depending on how it is structured and governed. As a retail bank, it could provide services to those who have no bank connection. As a lenders bank, it could support and guarantee non-profit social purpose lending by CDFIs, local community banks, and credit unions.

In North Dakota, half of the public bank's portfolio consists of business and agriculture loans initially made by smaller lenders.¹⁵² The remainder of its funds are used for residential mortgages and student loans.¹⁵³ The bank does not make home loans directly, but buys mortgages originated by the state's community banks and credit unions, thereby creating a secondary market for the loans

that are eschewed by the national and larger secondary market anchored by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.¹⁵⁴

Regardless of the approach, a public bank offers the possibility of a new lending paradigm and could provide service to those currently excluded because of race and risk. It also could support a new economy based on human need, not profit.

As Frederick Douglass noted, "Power concedes nothing without a demand." A demand for public banking led by grassroots leaders of communities that have endured almost 100 years of financial exclusion—allied with environmentalists, unions, worker centers, co-ops, affordable housing, and community land advocates—is a formidable coalition that is already making banks nervous.¹⁵⁵

The momentum and the movement for public banking will continue to grow.

Conclusion

or too long, profits have been the sole driving force behind development in our cities, and in the process, our need and right to housing has been ignored. It is time to recognize that housing is a human right, and that residents, not corporations or hedge funds, should be the active participants and beneficiaries of development decisions.

The first step is to recognize that higher property values are the seam that draws political and financial forces together, and to begin to pull at its threads to make it come apart. The political alignment around higher property values by local politicians, the real estate industrial complex who underwrite local politicians, and homeowners (and landlords) can be pierced by a new actor with different values—community land trusts—and by decreased reliance on property taxes and public financing of campaigns.

Global speculative capital targeting real estate can be captured when it touches ground locally and directed to local housing or equitable trust funds through recordation, transfer or other taxes. In addition, public and private pensions should divest from funds that facilitate real estate speculation. And the long and continuing history of racialized private lending can be upended by public banks, which can create a new lending paradigm not based on profit.

These, of course, are not the only strategies to human rights-based development. Harnessing rent increases through state and local pricing controls, expansion of public and social housing, and reforms to local zoning and land use reforms that enable affordable housing are all necessary and worthwhile struggles.

We hope the information shared here can inform those efforts, inspire others, and help to build the kind of local, equitable economies to which we all are entitled.

NOTES

- ¹ Declaration on the Right to Development, UN General Assembly Resolution 14/128 of 4 December 1986.
- ² See, National League of Cities Repository of City Racial Equity Policies and Decisions, <u>www.nlc.org/resource/</u> <u>repository-of-city-racial-equity-policies-and-decisions</u>.
- ³ The Giant Pool of Money, This American Life #355 (May 9, 2008), <u>www.thisamericanlife.org/355/</u> transcript.
- ⁴ Compare Gross World Product, Statistics Times (May 19, 2021), <u>https://statisticstimes. com/economy/world-gdp.php</u> with Research Quarterly: Fixed Income—Issuance and Trading, SIFMA Research Quarterly—4Q21 (Jan. 2022), <u>www.sifma.org/resources/research/</u> research-quarterly-fixed-income-issuance-and-trading.
- ⁵ Aalbers, *The Financializaton of Housing: A political economy approach* (Routledge 2017).
- ⁶ Fraiser-Nelson, The Growth of Real Estate Investment Trusts, The International Banker, (Dec. 12, 2016), <u>https://internationalbanker.com/brokerage/</u> growth-real-estate-investment-trusts.
- ⁷ Upcounsel, Common Law Trust vs. Statutory Trust, <u>www.upcounsel.com/</u> common-law-trust-vs-statutory-trust.
- ⁸ Kagan, *Private Equity Real Estate*, Investodpedia (Mar. 12, 2021), <u>www.investopedia.com/terms/p/private-equity-real-estate.asp</u>.
- ⁹ Carr, Zonta, Hornburg, Spriggs, 2019 State of Housing in Black America (National Association of Real Estate Brokers), www.nareb.com/site-files/uploads/2019/09/ NAREB_Shiba2019_small-compressed.pdf.
- ¹⁰ Rothstein, *The Color of Law: A Forgotten History of How Our Government Segregated America* (Liveright 2017).
- ¹¹ Sabonis, Hill, Community + Land + Trust: Policy Tools for Development Without Displacement, NESRI & Baltimore Housing Roundtable (Jan. 2016), <u>https://</u> dignityandrights.org/resources/community-land-trusttools-for-development-without-displacement.
- ¹² Philadelphia Association of Community Development Corporations, *Beyond Gentrification Toward Equitable Neighborhood: An Equitable Development Policy Platform*, Feb. 2015. See also, www.pghcitypaper.com/pittsburgh/pittsburghis-one-of-the-most-gentrified-cities-in-the-us/ <u>Content?oid=14381722</u> and www.post-gazette. <u>com/local/region/2019/04/08/Anti-blight-law-spursproperty-fights-conservatorship-houses-pittsburgh/</u> stories/201903220127.
- ¹³ Id. See also, Capital Impact Partners, *Toward Inclusive Growth in Detroit, Density and Income Mix Strategies for Detroit's Mixed Use Corridors*, Fall 2015, <u>www.capitalimpact.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/</u> Capital_Impact_Detroit_Toward_Inclusive_Growth.pdf.
- ⁴ Stein, Disrupting Displacement Financing in Oakland and Beyond, National Community Reinvestment Coalition & California Reinvestment Coalition (June 2018), <u>https://static1.squarespace.</u> <u>com/static/52b7d7a6e4b0b3e376ac8ea2/t/5</u> <u>b1eb1950e2e72b49f5a1679/1528738430348/</u> <u>Disrupting+Displacement+Financing.pdf</u>; See also, O'Grady and Delude-Dix, *Will Oaktree run afoul of HUD requirements on distressed Baltimore mortgages*? UNITE HERE, on file with author.

- ¹⁵ NCRC, Home Mortgage and Small Business Lending in Baltimore and Surrounding Areas, (November 2015), <u>https://ncrc.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/ ncrc_baltimore_lending_analysis_web.pdf.</u>
- ¹⁶ Sabonis, Hill, Community + Land + Trust: Policy Tools for Development Without Displacement, NESRI - Baltimore Housing Roundtable (Jan. 2016), at pp. 30-31, <u>https://dignityandrights.org/resources/</u> <u>community-land-trust-tools-for-development-withoutdisplacement</u>.
- ¹⁷ Blumgart, City Council is back from summer break. Day 1 ended with Keeney promising money for housing. WHYY (Sept. 13, 2018), <u>https://whyy.org/ segments/city-council-is-back-from-summer-breakday-1-ended-with-kenney-promising-money-forhousing.</u>
- ¹⁸ D'Onofrio, Council Oks funding increase for affordable housing, The Philadelphia Tribune (Oct. 4, 2018), <u>www.</u> phillytrib.com/news/council-oks-funding-increase-foraffordable-housing/article_ee35870d-3d8e-52aea3df-0f47da435531.html.
- ¹⁹ See, Brode, Referendum Will Decide Whether Tax increase Fills Housing Trust Fund, Organizers Say, 90.5 WESA (July 28, 2016), <u>www.wesa.</u> <u>fm/post/referendum-will-decide-whether-taxincrease-fills-housing-trust-fund-organizers-say</u> and Smeltz, Pittsburgh City Council Agrees to Transfer Tax Increase, Pittsburgh Post Gazette (Dec. 19, 2017), <u>www.post-gazette.com/local/</u> city/2017/12/19/Pittsburgh-City-Council-realtytransfer-tax-increase-affordable-housing-trustfund-Housing-Opportunity-Fund-Pittsburgh-United/ stories/201712190228.
- ²⁰ Baltimore Brew, Affordable housing advocates launch charter amendment drive. Saying Mayor Pugh and Council President Young have reneged on their promises, activists will take to the streets on Saturday to gather signatures (June13, 2018), www. baltimorebrew.com/2018/06/13/affordable-housingadvocates-launch-charter-amendment-drive.
- ²¹ From the Field: Baltimore City Leaders Agree to Devote Resources to Affordable Housing Trust Fund, National Low Income Housing Coalition Memo to Members (Aug 17, 2018), <u>https://nlihc.org/resource/</u> field-baltimore-city-leaders-agree-devote-resourcesaffordable-housing-trust-fund.
- ²² Ifateyo, Baltimore Won A Big Victory For Affordable Housing. The Next Goal: Community Control, In These Times (Oct. 30, 2018), http://inthesetimes.com/ article/21481/baltimore-development-affordablehousing-community-rent-control.
- ²³ Meehan, Baltimore among nation's most gentrified cities, study shows, The Baltimore Sun Mar. 20, 2019, www.baltimoresun.com/maryland/baltimore-city/bsmd-ci-gentrification-study-20190319-story.html.
- ²⁴ Deto, Pittsburgh Is One of the Most Gentrified Cities in the US, City Paper Pittsburgh (Apr. 4, 2019), www.pghcitypaper.com/pittsburgh/pittsburghis-one-of-the-most-gentrified-cities-in-the-us/ Content?oid=14381722.
- ²⁵ National Community Reinvestment Coalition & California Reinvestment Coalition, *Disrupting Displacement Financing in Oakland and Beyond*, June 2018 (p.2). See also, *The Urban Displacement Project* at www.urbandisplacement.org/map/sf#.

- ²⁶ See, Morris. Oakland Housing: Construction On Track, But Behind On Affordable Housing, Hoodline (Aug. 11, 2017), https://hoodline.com/2017/08/ oakland-housing-construction-on-track-but-behindon-affordable-housing and https://ballotpedia.org/ Oakland, California, Bond_Issue, Measure_KK_ (November_2016).
- ²⁷ See, Strathmann, Donlin, Laforest, Romano, Heck, Subways, *Renting from Wall Street: Blackstone's Invitation Homes in Los Angeles and Riverside*, SAGE, Right to the City Alliance (July 2014), <u>https://</u> <u>righttothecity.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/LA-</u> <u>Riverside-Blackstone-Report-071514.pdf</u>.
- ²⁸ See, O'Grady and Delude-Dix, UNITE HERE, Will Oaktree run afoul of HUD requirements on distressed Baltimore mortgages? on file with author. UNITE HERE and the Baltimore Roundtable partnered to reveal the practice to Baltimore City Council. See also, Baltimore Brew, Company's lending practices are causing Baltimore foreclosures, critics say. Oaktree Capital Management denies charge it misused HUD neighborhood stabilization program (Nov. 17, 2016), www.baltimorebrew.com/2016/11/17/companyslending-practices-are-causing-baltimore-foreclosurescritics-say.
- ²⁹ Manuel B. Albers, The Financialization of Housing: A Political Economy Approach. (Rutledge, 2016.)
- ³⁰ Matsuoka, Calf. Funders Working Group on Gentrification & Displacement, Democratic Development for Thriving Communities, Neighborhood Funders Group (May 2017), <u>https://</u> <u>d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/nfg/pages/476/</u> <u>attachments/original/1501798462/Democratic_</u> <u>Development_Report.pdf?1501798462.</u>

- ³² See, Seattle's Race and Social Justice Initiative, <u>www.seattle.gov/rsji</u>, Minneapolis' Division of Race and Equity, <u>https://voicesforracialjustice.org/voices/</u> <u>the-city-of-minneapolis-establishes-a-division-of-</u> <u>race-and-equity</u>, Oakland's Department of Race and Equity, <u>www2.oaklandnet.com/government/</u> <u>raceequity/index.htm</u>, Gov't Alliance and Race and Equity (GARE), <u>www.racialequityalliance.org</u>, and National League of Cities Repository of City Racial Equity Policies and Decisions, <u>www.nlc.org/resource/</u> repository-of-city-racial-equity-policies-and-decisions.
- ³³ See, Equity Assessment Program, Baltimore City Code, Art. 1, §§ 39-1 to 39-12 (2000 ed).
- ³⁴ See, National League of Cities Repository of City Racial Equity Policies and Decisions, <u>www.nlc.org/resource/</u> <u>repository-of-city-racial-equity-policies-and-decisions</u>.
- ³⁵ According to the conservative Tax Foundation, 26 states and the District of Columbia relied on property taxes as their primary source of revenue, <u>https://taxfoundation.org/</u> <u>state-and-local-property-tax-reliance-2019</u>.
- ³⁶ Janofsky, Congress Creates Board to Oversee Washington, D.C. (NY Times, April 8, 1995), visited July 21, 2020, <u>www.nytimes.com/1995/04/08/us/congresscreates-board-to-oversee-washington-dc.html</u>.
- ³⁷ See, D.C. Fiscal Policy Institute, *Revenue: Where* DC Gets Its Money (Feb. 9, 2017) Compare Figure 2 (p.9) and Figure 7 (p.26). <u>www.dcfpi.org/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2017/08/Revenue-Primer-2016-FINAL-</u> <u>VERSION.pdf</u>. For D.C. budget surplus, see D.C. Fiscal Policy Institute, <u>www.dcfpi.org/all/dc-used-surplus</u>.

³¹ Id., at p. i.

- ³⁸ See, D.C. Fiscal Policy Institute, Revenue: Where DC Gets Its Money (Feb. 9, 2017), p. 28, <u>www.dcfpi.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Revenue-Primer-2016-FINAL-VERSION.pdf, and Governing, *Tax-Exempt* Properties Rise as Cities Cope with Shrinking Tax Bases, Nov.2012, <u>www.governing.com/topics/finance/</u> gov-tax-exempt-properties-rise.html.
- ³⁹ Knapp & Woo, Renters and Voting, RENTONOMICS, Sept. 6, 2016, <u>www.apartmentlist.com/research/</u> renters-and-voting.
- ⁴⁰ See, Maryland Real Property §14-509 (b).
- ⁴¹ 2017 Member Report, Grounded Solutions Network, <u>https://groundedsolutions.org/sites/default/files/2018-</u> 11/2017%20Member%20Report%20-%20GSN.pdf.
- ⁴² See, Thaden & Rosenberg, Outperforming the Market, Delinquency and Foreclosure Rates in Community Land Trusts, October 2010, Lincoln Inst. of Land Policy, <u>www.lincolninst.edu/publications/</u> <u>articles/outperforming-market</u>.
- ⁴³ Baltimore City Dept. of Housing & Community Development, Spending Plan Adopted for City's Affordable Housing Trust Fund (Jan. 28, 2020) accessed Feb. 18, 2020, https://dhcd.baltimorecity. gov/news/news/2020-01-28-spending-plan-adoptedcitys-affordable-housing-trust-fund; See also, as background, lfateyo, Baltimore Won a Big Victory for Affordable Housing. The Next Goal: Community Control. In These Times (Oct. 130, 2018), https:// inthesetimes.com/article/baltimore-developmentaffordable-housing-community-rent-control.
- ⁴⁴ See, Davis & Brocht, Subsidizing the Low Road: Economic Development in Baltimore, (Good Jobs First 2002), <u>www.goodjobsfirst.org/sites/default/files/</u> <u>docs/pdf/balt.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁵ Although there were instances where federal community development monies were diverted to benefit downtown commerce rather than capital-starved communities. See, Webman, UDAG: Targeting Urban Economic Development, Political Science Quarterly (vol. 96, no. 2 (Summer 1981) pp. 189-207, <u>www.jstor.org/stable/2150335</u>.
- ⁴⁶ NESRI and United Workers, *Hidden in Plain Sight:* Workers at Baltimore's Inner Harbor and the Struggle for Fair Development, Spring 2011, <u>https://</u> dignityandrights.org/resources/hidden-in-plain-<u>sight-workers-at-baltimores-inner-harbor-and-the-</u> struggle-for-fair-development.
- ⁴⁷ THREE E Consulting Group. Study finds deep racial disparities in way Baltimore allocates public construction dollars (Dec. 12, 2017), <u>https://</u> <u>threeeconsultinggroup.com/study-finds-deep-</u> <u>racial-disparities-in-way-baltimore-allocates-public-</u> <u>construction-dollars</u>.
- ⁴⁸ Id.
- ⁴⁹ Id.
- ⁵⁰ Theodos, Hangen, Meixell, Foster, Neighborhood Investment Flows in Baltimore, Urban Institute (Sept. 2020) pp. 3-5, <u>www.urban.org/research/publication/</u><u>neighborhood-investment-flows-baltimore-case-</u> study-east-baltimore-development-initiative.
- ⁵¹ See, Jenkins, *The Bonds of Inequality, Debt and the Making of the American City*, (Chicago, 2021).
- ⁵² Good Jobs First, Beginner's Guide: Tracking Subsidies, Promoting Accountability in Economic Development, <u>www.goodjobsfirst.org/</u> <u>beginners-guide</u>.

- ⁵³ Hohle, Race and the Origins of American Neoliberalism, Ch. 5 Race, Zoning & Tax Revolts, (Routledge 2015).
- ⁵⁴ See, NESRI & United Workers, Hidden in Plain Sight: Workers at Baltimore's Inner Harbor and the Struggle for Fair Development, Spring 2011, <u>https://dignityandrights.org/resources/hidden-in-</u> plain-sight-workers-at-baltimores-inner-harborand-the-struggle-for-fair-development;Good Jobs First, Money for Something, Appendix 4, Summary of Wage and Benefit Requirements for Major State Subsidy Programs, <u>www.goodjobsfirst.org/sites/</u> default/files/docs/pdf/moneyforsomethingapp4.pdf.
- ⁵⁵ See, Davis & Brocht, Subsidizing the Low Road: Economic Development in Baltimore, (Good Jobs First 2002), www.goodjobsfirst.org/sites/default/files/ docs/pdf/balt.pdf. See also for UDAG, Marichiel, After Redlining: The Urban Reinvestment Movement in the Era of Financial Deregulation (Univ. of Chicago Press, Sept. 2020), p. 153-4.
- ⁵⁶ Dye & Merriman, *Tax Increment Financing, Land Lines, Lincoln Land Institute*, Jan. 2006, <u>www.</u>lincolninst.edu/publications/articles/tax-increment-<u>financing</u>; see also, Jason, *Why Tax Increment Financing Often Fails and How Communities Can Do Better*, Land Lines, Lincoln Land Institute, Oct 2018, <u>https://www.lincolninst.edu/publications</u>.
- ⁵⁷ Broadwater, Assembly passes bill to avoid \$300M loss to Baltimore schools stemming from city's tax deals, (Baltimore Sun, Mar. 27, 2018), <u>www.</u> <u>baltimoresun.com/maryland/baltimore-city/bs-md-cischool-tif-money-20180327-story.html.</u>
- ⁵⁸ See, Merriman, Improving Tax Increment Financing (TIF) for Economic Development (Lincoln Land Institute on Land Policy, Sept. 2018), <u>www.lincolninst.</u> <u>edu/publications/policy-focus-reports/improving-</u> <u>tax-increment-financing-tif-economic-development</u> and El-Khattabi, Lester, The Limits of Tax-Increment Financing of Economic Development in St. Louis and Kansas City (Scholars Strategy Network, Sept. 28, 2018) <u>https://scholars.org/contribution/limits-taxincrement-financing-economic-development-saintlouis-and-kansas-city.</u>
- ⁵⁹ See, Good Jobs First, *Tracking Subsidies, Promoting Accountability in Economic Development*, <u>www.goodjobsfirst.org/tax-increment-financing</u>.
- ⁶⁰ See, HUD 2021 Adjusted HOME Income Limits, www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/home-datasets/ files/HOME_IncomeLmts_State_MD_2021.pdf and U.S. Census data on Baltimore City (Baltimore City Median Income was \$50,379 in 2019), www.census. gov/quickfacts/fact/table/baltimorecitymaryland,US/ INC110219.
- ⁶¹ See, Wang, Cahen, Acolin, and Walter, *Tracking Growth and Evaluating Performance of Shared Equity Homeownership Programs During Housing Market Fluctuations*, Lincoln Institute of Land Policy (Apr. 2019), <u>www.lincolninst.edu/publications/working-papers/tracking-growth-evaluating-performance-shared-equity-homeownership.</u>
- ⁶² Murray, Sabonis, Developing Deeply Affordable Community Controlled Housing: A Toolkit for Activists and Allied Developers, Partners for Dignity & Rights (2021), <u>https://dignityandrights.org/resources/</u> creating-community-controlled-deeply-affordablehousing-a-resource-toolkit-for-community-activistsallied-community-based-housing-developers.

- ⁶⁴ See, Regional Plan Association, The Fourth Regional Plan, Recommendation #9, *Reduce reliance on local property taxes*, <u>http://fourthplan.org/action/</u> property-taxes-outside-nyc.
- ⁶⁵ Cross Center Initiatives, *State and Local Revenues*, Urban Institute (2011 to present), www.urban.org/policy-centers/crosscenter-initiatives/state-and-local-financeinitiative/state-and-local-backgrounders/ state-and-local-revenues.
- 66 32 V.S.A. 306a.
- ⁶⁷ See, Repository of City Racial Equity Policies and Decisions, National League of Cities, <u>www.nlc.org/resource/</u> <u>repository-of-city-racial-equity-policies-and-decisions</u>.
- ⁶⁸ Peoples Budget FAQ's. Partners for Dignity & Rights (Aug. 2013), <u>https://dignityandrights.org/resources/</u> <u>peoples-budget-frequently-asked-questions</u>.
- ⁶⁹ Film—A Peoples Budget. *Our Voice, Our Needs, Our Rights.* Partners for Dignity & Rights (Aug. 2013), <u>https://dignityandrights.org/resources/film-a-peoples-budget-our-voice-our-needs-our-rights.</u>
- 70 32 V.S.A. 306a.
- ⁷¹ See, Congressional Research Service, Campaign Finance Law: An Analysis of Key Issues, Recent Developments, and Constitutional Considerations for Legislation, Updated September 24, 2018, <u>https:// fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R45320.pdf</u>.
- ⁷² NCSL, Public Financing of Campaigns: Overview (Feb. 8, 2019), accessed Feb. 18, 2020, <u>www.ncsl.</u> <u>org/research/elections-and-campaigns/public-financing-of-campaigns-overview.aspx.</u>
- ⁷³ Id. And see, <u>www.nyccfb.info/program</u> (New York City); https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/2.12_Art8 (Berkeley); https://www.portland.gov/elections/ campaign-finance (Portland); Ballotpedia, Local Ballot Measures (2018) accessed on Feb. 18, 2020, https://ballotpedia.org/Denver,_Colorado,_ Measure_2E,_Campaign_Finance_Regulations_ Amendment_(November_2018); see also, Sachs, Measure 2E Supporters Say Their Victory is Chipping Away at Citizens United and the Power of Money in Politics (Nov. 6, 2018, Denverite), accessed Feb. 18, 2020, https://denverite.com/2018/11/06/ denver-election-results-2e-campaign-finance; City Wins with Public Financing of Elections, Baltimore Sun 3/5/2019, www.baltimoresun.com/ opinion/readers-respond/bs-ed-rr-campaignfinance-letter-20190305-story.html; (Montgomery Co.) www.montgomerycountymd.gov/COUNCIL/ public_campaign_finance.html; (Howard Co. Co.) www.howardcountymd.gov/boards-commissions/ citizens-election-fund-commission.
- ⁷⁴ McKinsey Global Institute, *The Rise and Rise of the Global Balance Sheet: How Productively are We Using our Wealth?* <u>www.mckinsey.com/industries/financial-services/our-insights/the-rise-and-rise-of-the-global-balance-sheet-how-productively-are-weusing-our-wealth.</u>
- ⁷⁵ See, Editors, *The Rental Housing Decade: 12 Trends from 2010 to 2020*, Rental Housing Journal (Dec. 19, 2020), <u>https://rentalhousingjournal.com/the-rental-housing-decade-12-trends-from-2010-to-2020</u> and Paulin, *Housing and Expenditures: before, during, and after the bubble*, Beyond the Numbers, Bureau of Labor & Statistics (June, 2018, Vo. 7, No. 10), <u>www.bls.gov/opub/btn/volume-7/</u>

⁶³ Id.

housing-and-expenditures-before-during-and-afterthe-bubble.htm.

- ⁷⁶ See, Harvey, *The Right to the City, New Left Review*, Issue 53, Sept/Oct 2008, <u>https://newleftreview.org/</u> <u>issues/ii53/articles/david-harvey-the-right-to-the-city.</u>
- ⁷⁷ UNITE HERE report, Will Oaktree run afoul of HUD requirements on distressed Baltimore mortgages? October 2016, on file with author. See also, The Government Is Selling Thousands of Homes to Hedge Funds Without Their Owners' Knowledge, The Atlantic, Sep. 23, 2015, <u>www.theatlantic.com/</u> business/archive/2015/09/the-government-is-sellingthousands-of-homes-to-hedge-funds-without-theirowners-knowledge/406771.
- ⁷⁸ Selene Finance L.P., documents on file with author.
- ⁷⁹ Christiana Trust, a division of Wilmington Fund Society, FSB, as trustee for Sunset Mortgage Loan Trust Series 2014-2, documents on file with author.
- ⁸⁰ Title 64, Pub. L. No. 116-283 (2021) ("Corporate Transparency Act") was enacted as part of the larger National Defense Authorization Act of 2021, pursuant to the Anti-Money Laundering Act of 2020.
- ⁸¹ See, Fact Sheet: Beneficial Ownership Information Reporting Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NPRM), Federal Crimes Information Network Proposed Rulemaking (Dec. 7. 2021), www.fincen.gov/news/ news-releases/fact-sheet-beneficial-ownershipinformation-reporting-notice-proposed-rulemaking. Also see, MD Courts & Jud. Proceedings §6-412, https://casetext.com/statute/code-of-maryland/ article-courts-and-judicial-proceedings/title-6personal-jurisdiction-venue-process-and-practice/ subtitle-4-practice-in-general/section-6-412statement-by-nongovernmental-corporateparty#:":text=Section%206%2D412%20%2D%20 Statement%20by%20nongovernmental%20 corporate%20party%20(a,corporation%20and%20 any%20publicly%20held
- ⁸² Cray, Drutman, Corporations, and the Public Purpose: Restoring the Balance. Seattle Journal for Social Justice, vol. 4, issue 1 (Nov. 2005), <u>https://</u> <u>digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.</u> <u>cgi?article=1574&context=sjsj.</u>
- ⁸³ UNITE HERE, Will Oaktree run afoul of HUD requirements on distressed Baltimore mortgages? (October 2016), www.yumpu.com/en/document/ view/56342041/will-oaktree-run-afoul-of-hudrequirements-on-distressed-baltimore-mortgages/2; on file with author.
- ⁸⁴ See, Singh, Oaktree Capital Draws Activists Ire over Evictions, The Wall Street Journal www.livemint.com/ companies/news/oaktree-capital-draws-activist-ireover-evictions-11614411180870.html. Contra Costa County Employees Retirement Association Meeting Minutes (March 21, 2013), www.cccera.org/sites/ main/files/file-attachments/03.21.13.pdf. Kozlowski, Oaktree Capital Closes latest distressed debt fund at \$15.9 billion, Pensions & Investments (Nov. 16, 2021), www.pionline.com/alternatives/oaktreecapital-closes-latest-distressed-debt-fund-159-billion. Weinstock, Illinois Teachers Commit €50 million to Oaktree, Private Equity International (Aug. 8, 2008) www.privateequityinternational.com/illinoisteachers-commits-euro50m-to-oaktree. See also, Corey, Is Your Pension Fund Plundering Puerto Rico? In These Times (January 25 | February Issue), https:// inthesetimes.com/features/union_pensions_puerto_ rico_debt_bondholders.html.

⁸⁵ Mayo, Caskey, Annual Survey of Public Pensions (released July 2021, G20-ASPP), <u>www.census.gov/</u> <u>content/dam/Census/library/publications/2020/econ/</u> <u>g20-aspp.pdf</u>.

⁸⁶ Id.

- ⁸⁷ Voluntary standards that have been promulgated relative to business and investment practices, by international bodies such as the U.N. Global Initiative <u>https://business-humanrights.org/sites/default/files/ documents/UNGCPrinciples_SDGs_White_Paper.pdf</u> and the Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), <u>www.oecd.org/about</u>.
- ⁸⁸ See, Emily Sladek, The Democracy Collaborative. Higher Education's Anchor Mission: Measuring Place-Based Engagement, The Anchor Dashboard Learning Cohort 2017, <u>https://</u> <u>democracycollaborative.org/learn/publication/highereducations-anchor-mission-measuring-place-basedengagement.</u>
- ⁸⁹ Lemke and Lins, *ERISA for Money Managers* §§1:5;
 2:125 2:127 (Thomson West, 2014-2015 ed.).
- 90 Id., at § 2:130.50
- ⁹¹ Daphne A. Kenyon and Adam H. Langley, Payments in Lieu of Taxes By Nonprofits: Case Studies, State Tax Notes (July 18, 2011), <u>www.lincolninst.edu/sites/</u> default/files/Case_Studies_on_Nonprofit_PILOTs.pdf.
- ⁹² Id.
- ⁹³ Id.
- ⁹⁴ National Nurses United, Coalition for a Humane Hopkins, AFL-CIO, Burdening Baltimore: How Johns Hopkins and Other Not-for-Profit Hospitals, Colleges, and Universities Fail to Pay their Fair Share (Oct 2019), on file with author and National Nurses United (NNU).
- ⁹⁵ Richman, Activists Rally for Hopkins, Other Non-Profits to Pay Their "Fair Share" as Baltimore Council Reviews Tax Deal (Dec. 19, 2019, Baltimore Sun) accessed Feb. 18 2020, <u>www.baltimoresun.com/</u> politics/bs-md-pol-pilot-agreement-rally-20191219i4fpxxzuhbg27kytw6jz6f6eja-story.html.
- ⁹⁶ See, Burdening Baltimore: How Johns Hopkins Hospital and Other Not-For Profit Hospitals, Colleges, and Universities Fail to Pay their Fair Share, National Nurses United (NNU), Coalition for a Human Hopkins, AFL-CIO (Oct 2019), on file with author and NNU.
- ⁹⁷ Wells, Report Highlights Economic Disparities Between Races in Baltimore, Baltimore Sun (Jan. 30 2017) www.baltimoresun.com/maryland/baltimorecity/bs-md-racial-wealth-divide-20170130-story.html.
- ⁹⁸ See, Atkins, Collins & Lowry, *Real Estate Transfer Taxes: Widely Used, Little Conformity, Viewpoint,* State Tax Notes (Oct. 19, 2015), <u>https://gwipp.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2181/f/downloads/Real%20</u> <u>Estate%20Transfer%20Taxes-%20Widely%20</u> <u>Used%2C%20Little%20Conformity.pdf</u> and Platoff, *Transfer fee will be an early test of how Michelle Wu's policies fare on Beacon Hill,* Boston Globe, Mar. 2, 2022, <u>www.bostonglobe.com/2022/03/02/metro/</u> <u>transfer-fee-will-be-an-early-test-how-michelle-wus-policies-fare-beacon-hill.</u>
- ⁹⁹ Keeney v. Comptroller of New York, 222 U.S. 525, 534-5 (USSC 1912) ("We therefore accept the conclusion of the court of appeals of New York, that the statute of that state imposing a tax on the transfers of property 'intended to take effect in

possession or enjoyment at or after the death of grantor' is 'not a property tax, but in the nature of an excise tax on the transfer of property."].

- ¹⁰⁰ Greenberg, Duranti-Martinez, Winston, Anderson, Udell, Kirk, Hendra, Gambling with Homes, or Investing in Communities, How speculation drives evictions and poor housing quality, and how affordable housing protects neighborhoods of color, LISC, UNHP, NSU (March 2022) www.lisc.org/ media/filer_public/e3/cf/e3cf0596-9a8e-4959-a47eba310e1d0333/gambling_with_homes_or_investing_ in_communities_key_findings.pdf.
- ¹⁰¹ Pender, Oakland's vacant property tax sparking hope—and alarm, San Francisco Chronicle, <u>www.</u> <u>sfchronicle.com/business/networth/article/Oakland-</u> <u>s-vacant-property-tax-takes-effect-13563273.</u> <u>php?psid=awT13</u>.
- ¹⁰² Kerkstra, Latest Anti-Gentrification Rallying Cry? Tax the Flippers, Philadelphia (7/3/2015), <u>www.phillymag.</u> <u>com/citified/2015/07/03/anti-gentrification-flipper-tax</u> and Vuocolo, Philadelphia Coalition for Affordable Communities Calls for Anti-Speculation Tax, Generosity, <u>https://generocity.org/philly/2015/04/01/</u> <u>philadelphia-coalition-for-affordable-housing-callsfor-anti-speculation-tax.</u>
- ¹⁰³ Levy, Housing Opportunity Fund Stream Analysis, PCRG (12/2016), <u>http://onepgh.org/documents/library/</u> <u>HousingOpportunityFund.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁰⁴ See, Baltimore City Council Bill 18-0221 (First Reader), <u>https://baltimore.legistar.com/</u> <u>LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=3479031&GUID=695EE6A1-</u> <u>C76B-44CA-98FF-9C13A2852B4F&Options=IDITextI&</u> <u>Search=18-0221</u> and Mayland Center for Economic Policy, Revenue Options for Baltimore City's Affordable Housing Trust Fund, <u>www.mdeconomy.</u> <u>org/revenue-options-for-baltimore-citys-affordable-</u> <u>housing-trust-fund</u> (Table 4).
- ¹⁰⁵ Armeni and Lyon, Grassroots Community Engaged Investment: Redistributing power over investment processes as the key to fostering equitable outcomes, Transform Finance (April 2021), <u>http://</u> transformfinance.org/briefings/2021/11/18/ grassroots-community-engaged-investmentredistributing-power-over-investment-processes-asthe-key-to-fostering-equitable-outcomes.
- ¹⁰⁶ Federal Reserve Banks, Small Credit Business Credit Survey: Report on Employer Firms at 7 (2019), <u>https:// bit.ly/2IJuuEq</u>.
- ¹⁰⁷ Greer, Wealth building won't work while wealth extraction continues, Shelterforce, Feb. 14, 2022, <u>https://shelterforce.org/2022/02/14/wealth-buildingwont-work-while-wealth-extraction-continues/?utm_ source=Under+the+Lens&utm_medium=email&utm_ campaign=021621.</u>
- ¹⁰⁸ Pietila, Not In My Neighborhood, (Ivan R. Dee 2010); Rothstein, The Color of Law, (Liveright 2017).
- ¹⁰⁹ Baradaran, The Color of Money, Black Banks and the Racial Wealth Gap, p. 6 (Belknap Harvard, 2017).
- ¹¹⁰ N. D. B. Connolly, *Redlining Does Not End: Talking With Rebecca Marchiel On Housing And Racism*, Freedom Education 10.12.2021, <u>www.publicbooks.org/redlining-does-not-end-talking-with-rebecca-marchiel-on-housing-and-racism</u>.
- ^{III} Suarez, *The Coloring of Risk*, Non Profit Quarterly, Mar. 17, 2020, <u>https://nonprofitquarterly.org/</u> <u>the-coloring-of-risk</u>.

¹¹² Axel-Lute, Pulling the Rug from Under Community Development? (Shelter Force, Mar. 5, 2020), accessed July 10, 2020, <u>https://shelterforce.org/2020/03/05/</u> pulling-the-rug-from-under-community-development.

113 Id.

- ¹¹⁴ National Community Reinvestment Coalition, Advocacy, Coalitions, Community Benefits (NCRC), accessed Feb. 18, 2020, <u>https://ncrc.org/bbtsuntrust-and-ncrc-announce-60-billion-communityinvestment-commitment-for-new-truist-bank.</u>
- ¹¹⁵ See, Mitchell, Silver, Making CRA Relevant for a Changing Financial Services Industry, NCRC, <u>https://</u><u>ncrc.org/making-cra-relevant-for-a-changing-</u><u>financial-services-industry</u> and Position Paper On CRA Reform, NCRC, Mar. 1, 2022, https://ncrc.org/ position-paper-on-cra-reform.
- ¹¹⁶ Edlebi, Mitchell, Richardson, *The Great Consolidation of Banks and Acceleration of Branch Closures Across America: Branch Closure Doubled During the Pandemic*, NCRC, <u>https://ncrc.org/the-great-consolidation-of-banks-and-acceleration-of-branch-closures-across-america</u>.
- ¹¹⁷ Id.
- ¹¹⁸ Id.
- ¹⁹ Badger, The Dramatic Racial Bias of Subprime Lending during the Housing Boom, Banks and Latinos were more than twice as likely as comparable Whites to receive such high-cost loans, Bloomberg City Lab (Aug. 16, 2013), <u>www.bloomberg. com/news/articles/2013-08-16/the-dramatic-racialbias-of-subprime-lending-during-the-housing-boo.</u>
- ¹²⁰ Ability-to-Repay and Qualified Mortgage Standards under the Truth in Lending Act, 12 CFR 1026 (Final Rule), <u>https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201301_ cfpb_final-rule_ability-to-repay.pdf</u>.
- 121 Id.

- ¹²³ See, Neil Bhutta & Glenn B. Canner, Mortgage Market Conditions and Borrower Outcomes: Evidence from the 2012 HMDA Data and Matched HMDA Credit Record Data, FED. RES. BULL., Nov. 2013, at 37, <u>www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/</u> <u>bulletin/2013/pdf/2012_hmda.pdf</u>.
- ¹²⁴ Interview with Cathy Semans, Director of Lending, Baltimore Neighborhood Housing Services, August 12, 2017.
- ¹²⁵ See, Nathan Torok & Mark Torok, What Happened to the American Dream? An Analysis of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Its Effect on Home Ownership, 17 SCHOLAR 95, 123 (2014), <u>https://commons.stmarytx.edu/cgi/</u> viewcontent.cgi?article=1179&context=thescholar.
- ¹²⁶ Bocian, Li, Ernst, Foreclosures by Race & Ethnicity, Center for Responsible Lending Research Report (June 18, 2010), <u>www.responsiblelending.org/</u> <u>mortgage-lending/research-analysis/foreclosures-by-</u> <u>race-and-ethnicity.pdf</u>.
- ¹²⁷ Glantz, Martinez, For People of Color, Banks are Shutting the Door to Homeownership, Reveal (Feb. 15, 2018), <u>www.revealnews.org/article/forpeople-of-color-banks-are-shutting-the-door-tohomeownership.</u>
- ¹²⁸ Id.

- ¹²⁹ Glantz, Martinez, Does the Treasury plan to modernize anti-blight laws stack up? Reveal (Apr. 4, 2018), <u>https://revealnews.org/blog/how-doesthe-trump-administrations-plan-to-modernize-fairlending-stack-up</u>.
- ¹³⁰ Oliver, Study Links Richmond mortgage denials to race, Richmond Times Dispatch (Nov. 18, 2015), <u>https://richmond.com/news/local/city-of-richmond/</u> <u>study-links-richmond-mortgage-denials-to-race/</u> <u>article_84d2e614-823a-5902-83df-a14ae649eb61.</u> <u>html.</u>

- ¹³² NCRC, Home Mortgage and Small Business Lending in Baltimore and Surrounding Areas, (November 2015), <u>https://ncrc.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/ ncrc_baltimore_lending_analysis_web.pdf.</u>
- ¹³³ See, multiple articles on *Racial Wealth Gap*, Shelterforce (Feb.- Mar 2022), <u>https://shelterforce.org/category/racial-wealth-gap</u>.
- ¹³⁴ See, Carr, Zonta, Hornburg, Spriggs, 2019 State of Housing in Black America, NAREB, www.nareb.com/ site-files/uploads/2019/09/NAREB_Shiba2019_smallcompressed.pdf and Carr, Zonta, McKinney,James, State of Housing in Black America 2016, NAREB, www.nareb.com/site-files/uploads/2016/08/NAREB-SHIBA-REPORT-2016-final.pdf.
- ¹³⁵ Jan, White Families have nearly 10 times the net worth of black families. And the gap is growing. Wash Post (Sept. 28, 2017), <u>https://www. washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2017/09/28/</u> black-and-hispanic-families-are-making-moremoney-but-they-still-lag-far-behind-whites.
- ¹³⁶ Lee, Mitchell, Lederer, Disinvestment, Discouragement and Inequity in Small Business Lending, NCRC, <u>https://ncrc.org/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2019/09/NCRC-Small-Business-Research-FINAL.pdf.</u>

- ¹³⁹ See, Baltimore City Department of Planning, Housing Market Typology, <u>https://planning.baltimorecity.</u> <u>gov/maps-data/housing-market-typology</u>; Rhodes, The Detroit Real Estate Market: Stats and trends for 2022, Roofstock, <u>https://learn.roofstock.com/</u> <u>blog/detroit-real-estate-investing</u>; Mock, The Brazen Redlining Happening in Cleveland: A real estate agency has made a modern redlining map of Cleveland..., Bloomberg CityLab (11/9/2018), <u>www.</u> <u>bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-11-09/a-redliningmap-aimed-at-housing-investors-in-cleveland.</u>
- ¹⁴⁰ McLeod, Maryland General Assembly passes legislation to help confront real estate appraisal gap in redlined areas, Baltimore Business Journal, April 13, 2021, <u>https://nhc.org/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2021/04/Maryland-General-Assembly-</u> <u>passes-legislation-to-help-confront-real-estate-</u> <u>appraisal-gap-in-redlined-areas.pdf.</u>
- ¹⁴¹ See, Yap, Williams, Rice, Chang, Christensen, Dane, Identifying Bias and Barriers, Promoting Equity, Jan 2022, <u>https://nationalfairhousing.org/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2022/01/2022-01-18-NFHA-et-al_Analysis-of-</u> <u>Appraisal-Standards-and-Appraiser-Criteria_FINAL.</u> <u>pdf</u> and Reed, A Home's True Worth—Getting Beyond Appraisal Bias, Shelterforce (Feb. 28, 2022), <u>https://</u> <u>shelterforce.org/2022/02/28/a-homes-true-worthgetting-beyond-appraisal-bias.</u>

- ¹⁴² Donovan, The Best Kept Secrets of the CDFI Sector, Center for Community Investment, 5/22/2019, <u>https://centerforcommunityinvestment.org/blog/ best-kept-secrets-cdfi-sector.</u>
- ¹⁴³ Mistry, Credit Where Credit is Due: Expanding Access to Capital for BIPOC Developers, Shelterforce (Feb. 22, 2022), <u>https://shelterforce.org/2022/02/22/</u> <u>credit-where-credit-is-due-expanding-access-tocapital-for-bipoc-developers.</u>
- ¹⁴⁴ See Federal Credit Union Act, 12 U.S. Code § 1751.
- ¹⁴⁵ Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, Community Bank Leverage Ratio Framework Community Bank Compliance Guide (October 2019), <u>www.fdic.gov/</u> regulations/resources/cbi/cblr-guide.pdf, p. 2.
- ¹⁴⁶ Brown, SPOTLIGHT ON COMMUNITY BANK LENDING, SBA Office of Advocacy, Small Business Facts September 2019, <u>https://cdn.advocacy.sba.gov/</u> wp-content/uploads/2019/09/25164013/Fact-Sheet-Community-Bank-Lending.pdf.
- ¹⁴⁷ Burga, Economics in Brief: Yes Votes for Public Bank in Philly, REI Workers' Union in NYC, Next City (Mar. 4, 2022) <u>https://nextcity.org/urbanist-news/economics-inbrief-yes-votes-for-public-bank-in-philly-rei-workersunion-in; see also, In Council News, Derek Green, City Council Votes to Establish the Philadelphia Public Financial Authority, News by PHL Council (Mar 3, 2022), <u>https://phlcouncil.com/city-council-votes-toestablish-the-philadelphia-public-financial-authority.</u></u>
- ¹⁴⁸ See, Assembly No. 857, Chapter 442 (2019-2020), <u>https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.</u> <u>xhtml?bill_id=201920200AB857</u>.
- ¹⁴⁹ DeFeo, Murphy vows to follow through with plans on New Jersey public bank, The Center Square New Jersey (Jan. 4, 2022), <u>www.thecentersquare.com/</u><u>new_jersey/murphy-vows-to-follow-through-withplans-on-new-jersey-public-bank/article_f388a11e-6d9f-11ec-9dc9-f327cac6d6d4.html.</u>
- ¹⁵⁰ Public Bank NYC, <u>www.publicbanknyc.org</u>.
- ¹⁵¹ See, Koran, California just legalized public banking, setting the stage for more affordable housing, The Guardian (Oct. 4, 2019), <u>www.theguardian.</u> <u>com/us-news/2019/oct/03/california-governorpublic-banking-law-ab857</u>; Peischel, How a brief socialist takeover in North Dakota gave residents a public bank, Vox, (Oct 1, 2019), <u>www.vox.com/</u> the-highlight/2019/9/24/2087258/california-north-<u>dakota-public-bank</u>; and Leopold, Where the heck is a public bank? New Jersey Star Ledger (Feb. 21,2022), <u>www.nj.com/opinion/2022/02/so-wherethe-heck-is-the-public-bank-of-new-jersey-opinion. html.</u>
- ¹⁵²Institute For Local Self-Reliance, *Public Banks: Bank of North Dakota*, <u>https://ilsr.org/rule/</u> <u>bank-of-north-dakota-2</u>.

¹⁵³ ld.

¹⁵⁴ Id.

¹⁵⁵ See, Public Bank NYC, <u>www.publicbanknyc.org</u>.

¹²² ld.

¹³¹ Id.

¹³⁷ Id.

¹³⁸ ld.

Date

June 2022

Author Peter Sabonis Partners for Dignity & Rights

Editors

Philippa Rizopoulos Kesi Foster Cathy Albisa Steve Dubb

Acknowledgments

Thanks to the outstanding organizing and vision of the Baltimore Fair Development Roundtable that was the basis of this report, particularly staff members of the United Workers that led the Fair Development Campaign:

Terrel Askew Shawshanda Campbell Todd Cherkis Michael Coleman Amanda DeStefano Tarah Fitzgerald Adriana Foster Charles Graham Crystal Hall

Iletha Joynes Vernadine Kimball Lenora Knowles Rachel Kutler Luis Larin David Reische Greg Sawtell Meleny Thomas Destiny Watford



This report was made possible by a grant from Oak Foundation.

Thank you to Michelle Sayles (michellesayles.com) for report illustrations, and to Deirdre Reznik, DPI Creative (dpi.nyc) for report design and production.

PARTNERS F 🗱 R DIGNITY & RIGHTS

In partnership with communities, Partners for Dignity & Rights works to build a broad movement for economic and social rights, including health, housing, education, and work with dignity. Based on the principle that fundamental human needs create human rights obligations on the part of the government and private sector, Partners for Dignity & Rights advocates for public policies that guarantee the universal and equitable fulfillment of these rights in the United States.

©2022 Partners for Dignity & Rights

PARTNERS F R DIGNITY & RIGHTS

90 John Street, Suite 501 New York, NY 10038 212-253-1710

dignityandrights.org info@dignityandrights.org

@PartnersforDignityandRights@Partner4Dignity